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We are committed to creating
value for stakeholders by providing
comprehensive and innovative

solutions that achieve high quality
results.
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Integrity EERE
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Pursuit of Excellence B3RS
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS OF THE YEAR
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Awarded a contract for reinstatement work of two floors of a commercial building in Central.
AE-EPR-EBEREAEETRMENBEIRGH -

Awarded a contract for hoarding work of a commercial building in Kowloon Bay.
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Good MPF Employer

ISP Construction (Engineering) Limited

FHaEEmR(TE)ARAT

is honoured as a 17
Good MPF Employer
[HerEE]

and presented with %%
e-Contribution Award [ & F 5 3€ |

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS OF THE YEAR
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Chaman

AMELEHERERER NI

Vald i 3 E 3002020

SR ERA i

N A SO FE

\/ MAR
2022-_23 —
EEE EE =
Good MPF Employer
ISP Interiors Limited
BHENEHERAT Recognised as MPF Good
Iehonoured a3 AR Employer 2022-2023 by The
Good MPF Employer Mandatory Provident Fund
[He ] .
nd prosenos with SA Schemes Authority.
e-Contribution Award [ % F {55k 4 |
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Practical completion of a nominated MAY
sub-contract for fitting-out works of a
composite building in Mong Kok. EH
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS OF THE YEAR
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Won three awards including Proactive Safety Contractor
Award for the Year 2022, Safety Person-in-charge Award
for the Year 2022 and Safe Supervisor Award for the

Year 2022 from the Hong Kong Construction Association.
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Awarded a contract for
provision of a registered
general building
contractor service for
staircase works of a
shopping mall in
Causeway Bay.
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS OF THE YEAR
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Won Zero Accident NOV
Ambassador Award

from Development +_H
Bureau and

Construction Industry

Council.
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Won 22nd Hong Kong

Occupational Safety and
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Health Award 2023 &

— Safety Performance @) 22 Hong kang 05 Award Forum g faoer] Presentation Cere
Award (All Industries) 2023 o -~
from Occupation Safety
and Health Councdil.
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Chairman
Mr. Kingston Chu Chun Ho
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board") of ISP Holdings
Limited (the “Company”), | would like to present to you the annual
performance of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Reporting
Year").

Despite the resumption of global economies from the novel
coronavirus (“COVID-19") which began in 2020, the construction
industry and the general economic environment was slow to
recover in 2023. Furthermore, macro-economic factors have
continued to remain uncertain, due to volatile situations in the
Russo-Ukrainian conflict, the tense situation on the Korean
Peninsula and, more importantly the persistent pressure from a
high benchmark interest rate by the US Fed. The uncertain
environment resulted in a challenging financial year for our Group.
The Group recorded consolidated revenue of approximately
HK$154.7 million for the Reporting Year, representing a decrease
of 31.2% as compared to approximately HK$224.9 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Corresponding Year”).
Likewise, the Group recorded a decrease in gross profit of 42.2%
as compared with the Corresponding Year, to approximately
HK$13.1 million for the Reporting Year. Excluding the beneficial
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gain from the disposal of the property and facility management
business in Hong Kong (“PFM HK Business”) and ancillary business
(“Ancillary Business”) (collectively, the “Disposal Group”) to China
Resources Property Management Limited at a consideration of
HK$539.0 million (the “Disposal”) for the Corresponding Year, the
Group incurred a loss attributable to the equity holders of the
Company of approximately HK$15.2 million, as compared with the
loss of approximately HK$1.7 million for the Corresponding Year.

Stepping in to 2024, we foresee continued uncertainty in the
regional economy, which will directly affect the construction
industry. The persistent inflationary pressure on construction costs
and the high global interest rates will continue to place a heavy
burden on the industry as a whole. In addition, we anticipate
delays or cancellations of potential project tenders in the market,
under such an unpredictable business environment. We expect to
compete fiercely in this market for existing tenders while
maintaining a sustainable margin for the Group. During this
difficult time, our ISP Business will focus on delivering high quality
work to complete existing projects, while actively tendering for new
projects to replenish workload. In a promising note to the industry,
the Hong Kong Housing Authority has announced that there are
plans to redevelop local properties, in order to provide some
32,800 housing flats. Announced during the Chief Executive Policy
Address, this should revitalize the demand for building
construction and fitting out works, and the Group will strive to
capture all opportunities to drive our business growth and
strengthen our position in the market. The Group will continue to
leverage its solid foundation, expertise and committed
management team, and we have full confidence that we will
overcome future challenges and tap into the vast growth potential
of a recovering market.

Aligning our values of customer-focus, integrity, teamwork,
innovation and the pursuit of excellence, together with responsible
business and sustainability, is our core long term strategy. We are
committed to proactively making improvements under the
implementation of Total Quality Management, through the
comprehensive and innovative solutions in our provision of quality
services, with the aim to enhance customer satisfaction. The Group
is cautiously optimistic about the outlook of our core business
amidst continuing challenge and uncertainties in 2024.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EE

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my most sincere HKNARRXRESZS AEFNZEABTHE
gratitude to our Directors and dedicated staff members for their T 7F 2R 2 b5 HR U5 S 2= BA AN 20038 A B PIB0 3
unwavering commitment and passion towards our business during I B AL B BRI AT IFEERE - ME S
these difficult times, driving the Group towards sustainable  LARADVEE o RANMEN B S EEHRS
development. | would also like to sincerely thank all our valued #ifER EXBEHULBERZFR S HT#H
service providers, business partners as well as our shareholders & 2T EIAR R AH - B2 K - #REE
for their continuous support and patience throughout the years. ¥ {3A7eim kB R A HEE M - BN E L
Looking to the future, although the construction industry is still full ~ BN EEIEEBE  THEERTFIRMEE
of challenges and uncertainty, we maintain confidence in creating — H— A VARR 5 o

value for our stakeholders and will continue to provide a

comprehensive one stop solutions for our customers.

Kingston Chu Chun Ho FE
Chairman KAETE
Hong Kong, 27 March 2024 BB 2024327 R
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GROUP STRUCTURE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B [Z 51 5@ IR 5 i

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW Hit F5 itk &5

Continuing Operations FEREER
Revenue Wres 154.7 224.9 (70.2) | 31.2%
Gross profit ER 13.1 22.7 (9.6) | 42.3%
Gross profit margin RS 8.5% 10.1% - | 1.6%
Operating expenses EERX

(excluding interest) (TBREF L) (29.9) (25.7) (4.2) 1 16.3%
Operating loss rEBE (16.8) (3.0) (13.8) 1 460.0%
Other income and gain or loss ~ H AUk A F{EzE 1.4 5.0 (3.6) | 72.0%
Government subsidy IR i AL - 2.1 2.1 1 100.0%
Costs in relation to the Disposal A & & EIEH A A - (5.6) 5.6 | 100.0%
Taxation HiIA 0.2 (0.2) 0.4 | 200.0%
Loss for the year from FARBRFALEER

Continuing Operations o) =] (15.2) (1.7) (13.5) 1 794.1%
Discontinued Operations CRIEER
Profit for the year from FARBERLEELN

Discontinued Operations g - 438.4 (438.4) | 100.0%
Continuing Operations & FEREXRR

Discontinued Operations ERIEEK
(Loss)/profit attributableto ZRATEZEFTHA

the equity holders of FE1h (B518), %7

the Company (15.2) 436.7 (451.9) | 103.5%
(LBITDA)/EBITDA (BB~ T8 KA

B8 BRER e
T 8 5 A & F (12.7) 440.0 (452.7) | 102.9%

Basic (loss)/earnings per share  SRREAX (E18), &F|

(HK cents) (L) (3.6) 879 915 | 104.1%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Continuing Operations

The interior and special projects business (‘ISP Business”) and the
property management and facility management business in China
("PFM China Business”) constituted the Continuing Operations of
the Group. The Continuing Operations together reported a
revenue of approximately HK$154.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 (the “Reporting Year”), representing a decrease of
31.2% over that of last year (2022: HK$224.9 million). Such
decrease was mainly due to the lack of adequate new interior and
special project orders for replenishment in the Reporting Year and
the disruption of work progress in our existing ISP Business
projects. Furthermore, in this unfavourable situation, gross profit
decreased by 42.3% from that of last year (2022: HK$22.7 million)
to approximately HK$13.1 million and gross profit margin likewise
decreased from 10.1% to 8.5% for the Reporting Year as compared
with last year.

During the Reporting Year, the court orders for litigation cases with
Falcon Insurance Company (Hong Kong) Limited under High Court
Action number of HCA 245 of 2022 and HCA 472 of 2022 were
made, which can be referenced to the interim report of the
Company for the six months ended 30 June 2023 and the
announcement of the Company dated 1 March 2022 and 27 April
2023 respectively. According to the court orders, provision for the
cost orders for the Group to pay the plaintiff's costs on an
indemnity basis was made in the Reporting Year. On the other
hand, more administrative costs were involved in supporting the
litigation and arbitration case. These all led to an increase of the
operating expenses by 16.3% over that of last year to
approximately HK$29.9 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

E R E 51 5 % 5 i

Taking into consideration of the one-off subsidy from Employment
Supporting Scheme launched by the Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region of approximately HK$2.1
million, costs in relation to the Disposal of approximately HK$5.6
million recognised last year but not recurred in the Reporting Year,
lesser other income and gain or loss and the various factors
mentioned above, the Group recorded a loss of approximately
HK$15.2 million from the Continuing Operations as compared to a
loss of approximately HK$1.7 million last year.

Discontinued Operations

Discontinued Operations of the Group comprised the property
and facility management in Hong Kong (the “PFM HK Business”)
and the ancillary business (the "Ancillary Business”) (collectively, the
“Disposal Group”). The Disposal Group was disposed to China
Resources Property Management Limited for the consideration of
HK$539.0 million (the “Disposal”) and the exceptionally significant
disposal gain of approximately HK$438.4 million was recognised
last year, but there was no such transaction for the Reporting Year.

Continuing Operations and Discontinued Operations

Including both the results of Continuing Operations and
Discontinued Operations, the Group recorded the loss attributable
to equity holders of the Company of approximately HK$15.2
million for the Reporting Year as compared to a profit attributable
to equity holders of the Company of approximately HK$436.7
million last year. Basic loss per share of the Group was 3.6 HK
cents (2022: Basic earnings per share was 87.9 HK cents).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS
Business Overview

Since the completion of the disposal of the Disposal Group in
January 2022, the Group focused on the expansion and
development of ISP Business and maintained the existing
operating scale of PFM China Business.

Business Results

EEEHRRD
EBOERAIR

E

B202F 1 AKEHESREAZHER K
SEBINERREREANRM RISKIAR
X UHFTPEVNERREEEREB 2B
BEERR -

ESCES

Revenue Wras 150.3 2177 (67.4) | 31.0% 44 7.2 2.8 1389%
Gross Profit £ 9.1 18.1 (9.0) | 49.7% 4.0 46 06) 113.0%
Operating Expenses 4B (17.8) (149 (29 1 195% @2 (@7 05 |106%
Operating (Loss)/ £ (&18)/

Profit il (8.7) 3.2 (11.9) | 371.9% 0.2) (0.1) (0.1) 1 100.0%
Government Subsidies BT # 8t

(Note) (Bt &E) - 2.1 (2.1) | 100.0% - - - -
Others it 0.6 0.7 0.1) | 14.3% 0.2 0.7 05) | 71.4%
Taxation I 0.2 0.2) 0.4 | 200.0% = - - -
Net (Loss)/Profit #(18),/F (7.9) 5.8 (13.7) | 236.2% - 0.6 (0.6) | 100.0%

Note: Government subsidies — Employment Support Scheme launched by the
Government of HKSAR.

IS - BUTHER — BERRITRE BUTHEH AR -




A

..

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMEst#RR NN

ISP Business

After the completion of the Disposal, ISP Business became the
major business arm of the Group and contributed over 95%
revenue of the Group. The ISP Business had been in operation
since 2006. Before being acquired by the Group in late 2012, ISP
Business had completed over 253 projects with a contract sum of
over HK$9.0 billion up to 31 December 2023 for a large variety of
services, including interior design, fitting out, renovation and
conservation, addition and alteration works ("A&A works"),
construction, maintenance, and buildability and feasibility studies
for building related projects.

2023 was an extension of the challenging time to our ISP Business.
Notwithstanding the fact that there were signs of global economic
recovery from the easing of the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19"), the
business environment was still subject to the economic and
geopolitical uncertainties. Our ISP Business was unavoidably
threatened. The ongoing Russo-Ukrainian conflicts, the tense
situation on the Korean Peninsula and persistent pressure from
high benchmark interest rate by the US Fed not only led to inflation
in construction costs but also increased the competition in the
construction market. In this uncertain business environment, the
property market remained sluggish although there was relaxation
of Hong Kong's property mortgage policy. Our potential business
operators and property owners were hesitant and took a prudent
attitude and deferred or even abandoned the fitting-out, A&A
works or new construction project plans. The invitations to tenders
in the market decreased sharply and the competition in the
industry became stiff. Meanwhile, ISP Business was cautious during
the Reporting Year in tendering projects and more selective in
tender opportunities due to the depressed environment. These
resulted in a decrease in our new contracts awarded during the
Reporting Year. Moreover, the work progress of our existing
projects was disrupted by late handover of sites and design
changes. All of these factors caused project construction period to
drag longer. Although notice of claims had been submitted to
employers to avoid any disputes in the future, they still made a hit
to the revenue of ISP Business, which decreased by 31.0% over
last year. ISP Business continued our dedication and commitment
to overcome the difficulties in our existing projects and deliver
high quality work. During the Reporting Year, we had completed a
nominated fitting out project of proposed composite building in
Yin Chong Street and several offices A&A works projects. Together
with three on-going residential development projects in Peak Road,
Pokfulam and Stanley and a nominated fitting out project in
Aberdeen, ISP Business recorded a revenue of approximately

o C
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

HK$150.3 million for the Reporting Year (2022: HK$217.7 million).
Simultaneously, ISP Business recorded a gross profit of
approximately HK$9.1 million, which represented a decrease of
49.7% over last year (2022: HK$18.1 million). With more
administrative costs involved in supporting the legal case related
to ISP Business, the operating expenses increased by 19.5% to
approximately HK$17.8 million as compared with last year (2022:
HK$14.9 million). As a result of the foregoing, ISP Business turned
from an operating profit of approximately HK$3.2 million last year
to a loss of approximately HK$8.7 million for the Reporting Year.
After taking into account of the interest income and other income,
ISP Business recorded a net loss for the Reporting Year of
approximately HK$7.9 million as compared with a net profit of
approximately HK$5.8 million last year.

In face of the uncertain economy and stiff competition in the
construction market, ISP Business was deeply affected and was
only awarded three small scale contracts in 2023, which included a
hoarding works project in Kowloon Bay, reinstatement work in
Queen’s Road Central and registered general building contractor
service for staircase work in Causeway Bay. In view of the few new
contracts awarded in the Reporting Year, ISP would be more
proactive with caution and prudence in tendering in the coming
year. As of the report date, ISP Business tendered for 6 projects
and pending for the results and had a total of 11 potential tenders
on hand, including new build, fitting out, demolition, site formation,
A&A works, landscaping and external works with the total contract
sum of over HK$1,158.0 million. These new projects would bring in
substantial income to the Group in the next few years if awarded.
Meanwhile, the total outstanding workload for contracts on hand
as of 31 December 2023 amounted to approximately HK$141.2
million, all of which was expected to be recognised in 2024.

Going forward, the shadow of the negative uncertain vibe will still
be there and may not falter as soon as expected. The recovery of
construction industry has been prolonged and its industry rivalry is
still fierce. Our potential business operators and property owners
have not regained the confidence and still temporize. Against this
backdrop, there are fewer invitations to tenders for new
development projects in the market. In addition, the ongoing high
benchmark interest rate by the US Fed and geopolitical conflicts
have still posed uncertainty to the global economy. ISP Business is
inevitably hindered in this hostile environment. During this tough
period, our ISP Business would adopt an active approach to
continuing our dedication and commitment to overcome the
difficulties in existing projects and deliver high quality work while

ARERER R A

EMEst#RR NN

150,300,000 7T (20224 : # # 217,700,000
JL) o B EAEMREKRIAE XBEEE
FI #) 7 9,100,000 7T * B & F Rk 2 49.7%
(20224 : A #18,100,0007T) - FEE T %17
BERABUASERENEMREAREEELBEH
RZERRY KERIREFEMI05%E
#4748 #17,800,0007C (20224 : B #&
14,900,0007T) » BER I - ERE R FFK
TH B E R EAFEERF 483,200,000
T EARETESHGSEEBROBE
8,700,000 7T ° st R F B WA R EMBA - =
MRS KRIBEE R MEFEHRGLE
#78% 7,900,000 7t + & F IR BRI 4975
# 5,800,000 7T °

HEEETHEAREETSHRIBRFNBER
T ENEMRFHREBEEBREITZE B
2023FRER=ZH/NREEL  BIEMLAN
EENBEREEZIR EFRNETNERT
RS EER TEN —REREAREHRT -
ERNREFEMERAGARD  ERNEMR
FERRTE B 558 50 R F IR EEE RV DL
BEMEEEY RAFZEAH TREM
MERBBEEBOCHROABERIES 4
REFQMM  MFELAEEB 1N HDEEEZSE
BEFE L& FH HBEFE BT
B BEELRINSIRE AOEEBAS
#1,158,000,000 7T ° fir 4~ 5 [ A T BX4S i 55
HERNEH EBRRREFTARMERE
KA - A HE2023412A8318 F
FERTER A KB EB 4B 85 141,200,000 7T * T8
Hi 2 BT 2024 FHERR -

RERK HETHANBED/FLE X
BT e AR ARERA - BEXER
HEARKRE TERIRARR - ZBE
EL2BRLMERE ARKRRKESL  BF
BERE -ARELT mELEHEREHR
BIRBER D - B ZEBHEBHEERNX
FESE MEMEBRER - DREIE
BERTAARE - ERRMHEFHRER X
BHEEEBHRE NHRTIE - UL R
H o EREMNRRIER XK REERE
B #BER N RRAFRBMEHRE X




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMEst#RR NN

vigilantly tendering for new projects to replenish our workload. As
usual, ISP Business would continue to position ourselves in the
market with strategic focus on the luxury residential sector, in
which ISP Business has 4 existing projects. Meanwhile, ISP
Business would also seize the opportunities from our existing
customers for the extension works of our existing projects.
Furthermore, ISP Business would also grasp more business
opportunities in renovation work in hospitality industry as swift
recovery of the hospitality industry from COVID-19 is expected
under the Government Policy. As promulgated in the latest Chief
Executive's Policy Address, the Government would provide
sufficient supply of land and sustain Hong Kong Housing Authority
redevelopment projects in order to provide some 32,800 flats in
total in the near future. The policy should give rise to an increase
in the demand for building construction and fitting out works, and
the Group will strive to capture the opportunities to drive our
business growth and strengthen our position in the existing
market.

In addition, leveraging on our enhanced financial resource, long
standing reputation and good tracking records in the industry and
taking into account of Chief Executive's Policy Address on land use,
the projects currently on hand, the tenders submitted recently as
well as more sizable tenders, which we plan to submit this year,
Directors are confident that there will be ample business
opportunity and growth impetus in the market for ISP Business.
Also, ISP Business is well positioned to capture these business
opportunities for market growth in the near future.

PFM China Business

The COVID-19 had gradually subsided in early 2023. However, the
recovery of the China market has been slow due to the strained
relationship between China and the United States. During the
Reporting Year, PFM China Business successfully renewed a
property and facility management contract for a composite
building with office and retail pavilions in Shanghai for two years
and was awarded two property management contracts for a
commercial building in Qingdao for one year and a business and
residential building in Shanghai for two years respectively. In the
challenging business environment, PFM China Business recorded a
revenue of approximately HK$4.4 million with a decrease of 38.9%
as compared with last year (2022: HK$7.2 million). Despite the
effective cost control measure, PFM China Business still incurred
an operating loss of approximately HK$0.2 million for the
Reporting Year (2022: HK$0.1 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Stepping into 2024, in view of economic volatility, sluggish recovery
in the Mainland and the keen competition faced by PFM China
Business, the Group will adopt a prudent approach to maintaining
the existing structure while exploring new or alternative business
development opportunities to enhance income streams of PFM
China Business.

OutlooR of the Group

Looking forward, we expect the local economy remains challenging,
amid the low confidence of our potential business operators and
property owners, elevated global inflation and economic
uncertainty. In such hostile environment, our ISP Business would
expect to a certain extent, to suffer from these negative impacts.
In the midst of the economy encompassed by an atmosphere of
uncertainty, we are well-equipped to focus on the relatively steady
of development and bounce back as expected of the luxury
residential sector as well as the hospitality sector and extension
works of existing projects. Leveraging on our good historical track
records and experience in the industry, diversified professional
team and our strengthened liquidity and financial position, we are
able to undertake more sizable projects in the coming year and
strive to maintain continuous business growth.

At the Group level, we take a positive view that the overall financial
performance of the Group will remain stable with steady growth so
as to create long-term values to the shareholders in the years to
come. Same as the past, along with improving financial
performance, we must sustain a transparent, responsible and
passionate belief in our business so that we can continue our
journey to sustainable development. Aligning our values with
customer focus, integrity, teamwork, innovation and pursuit of
excellence, sustainability are our core business values. We are
committed to enhancing customer satisfaction through better
communication with clients and continuous improvement to our
services. Besides, with the rapid change of the business
environment, we will take appropriate measures to manage
various operational and financial risks. Leveraging on our solid
foundation and dedicated management team, the Group has full
confidence in overcoming all the difficulties ahead of us.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Financial Position and Financial Risk Management

As at 31 December 2023, there was no outstanding bank loan for
the Group. During the Reporting Year, the Group's sources of fund
were supported by retained earnings from its business operation.

With regard to the current portfolio of businesses, management
expects that financial requirements in the foreseeable future will
be met from a combination of shareholders’ equity and banking
facilities. The existing cash and cash equivalents balance are
proposed to be deployed towards further strengthening
competitive advantage of the Continuing Operations of the Group
with extra cash for the purchase of surety bonds and payment of
upfront costs, which will enable the continuing operations to
tender for larger and/or more projects. They in turn can contribute
to increase in tender success rate and facilitate the expansion of
the ISP Business. The management of the Group would continue
to proactively monitor the financial position and capital structure
on a regular basis in order to maintain sufficient working capital
and liquidity in the way that can enable us to seize more business
opportunities in the market when they arise, hereby boosting their
profitability.
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Total assets EE#HE

Account and other receivables, retention
receivables and other assets

Restricted cash deposits, pledged bank Z|REIRE - BEPRT
deposits and cash and cash equivalents ~ BR& RIS EE

Current assets REBEE

Current liabilities REAEE

Non-current liabilities FRBAE

Net assets BEEFE

Net assets per share (HK cents) BREEFE BB

Current ratio BN =

IR W B R L A R MR TR
RN IR Bl J B & &

348,600 424,314
199,273 249,187
TER K
147,255 172,951
346,528 422,138
163,493 223,871
679 245
184,428 200,198
36.5 39.7
2.1 1.9

The Group adopts a conservative approach to management of its
financial risks and resources, under the supervision of the
Directors.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group's business is conducted primarily in Hong Kong, and
the majority of its assets and liabilities are denominated in Hong
Kong Dollars. Therefore, the Group has minimal foreign currency
exposure. The growth of the Group's business in China has been
funded by permanent capital injection for the long-term and
hence, foreign currency hedging is considered unnecessary.

There were no material investments, capital commitments or
contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2023 and up to the date of
this report, other than a writ of summons received by ISP
Construction (Engineering) Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, from the employer of the factory
development at Yuen Long, details of which were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 18 January 2021.

Cash Management

The Group operates a centralised cash management system. Cash
balances surplus for fulfilling immediate requirements are mainly
placed as short-term bank deposits with licensed banks in Hong
Kong.

Human Resources

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed a total of 312 staffs
(including Directors of the Company) in Hong Kong and China
(2022:317).

The economy, business and the job market in Hong Kong staged a
slight recovery. Human resources are continuously playing a major
role in supporting the Group. To promote workplace wellness
programs to achieve employees' well-being and work-life balance,
we have been instrumental in maintaining business continuity and
preparing the Group for sustainable growth. Being more flexible,
remote-friendly and following digital working norms, improvements
in processes, workspaces, collaboration systems, and employee
wellness are indispensable. In order to sustain our quality services,
it is always our long-term goal to retain top talent for the Group.
We put a lot of efforts in ensuring our staff members are enjoying
competitive remunerations and benefits through market research
for regular benchmarking review. Our Human Resources team
always strives their best to keep track of changes in the latest
market conditions in order to attract more high caliber candidates
to join our winning team. In addition, aiming for the mutual growth
of the staff and the Group, we do our utmost to invest and share
resources with our staff. We do believe our staff will reward the
Company and customers through providing quality services and
thus receiving appreciation and recognition from the customers.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS
EBZEIN

MR. KINGSTON CHU CHUN HO
(aged 38)

Mr. Kingston Chu Chun Ho
("Mr. Chu") was appointed as an
Executive Director and the
Chairman of the Company with
effect from 9 March 2017. He is
also the chairman of the
Investment Committee and a
member of each of the
Executive Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Chu is a licensed person under Securities and Futures
Ordinance for Type 1 (dealing in securities) and Type 6 (advising on
corporate finance) regulated activities for Kingston Securities
Limited and Kingston Corporate Finance Limited, respectively. Mr.
Chu is @ member of General Committee of The Chamber of Hong
Kong Listed Companies, vice president of Hong Kong CPPCC Youth
Association, vice director of Youth Committee of HKCPPCC
(Provincial) Members Association, vice president of Federation of
Hong Kong Guangxi Community Organisations, vice chairman of
Hong Kong Guangdong Youth Association, honorary chairman of
Hong Kong Guangxi Youth Organisations and founder chairman of
Youth Committee of Hong Kong Federation of Dongguan
Associations. Mr. Chu holds a Bachelor Degree of Science in
Business Administration from the University of Southern California
inthe US.A.

Mr. Chu has been an executive director of Kingston Financial
Group Limited since 21 August 2015, the shares of which were
withdrawn voluntarily from listing on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 27 February 2023. He had
also been an executive director of Sincere Watch (Hong Kong)
Limited (stock code: 444) since 29 May 2012 (which is listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange) and was then re-designated as
a non-executive director since 1 February 2023 until his
resignation on 29 June 2023.

He is the son of Mrs. Chu Yuet Wah, the ultimate beneficial owner
of Champ Key Holdings Limited, which is the controlling
shareholder of the Company.
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MR. LAM CHUN KIT
(aged 50)

Mr. Lam Chun Kit (“Mr. Lam”)
was appointed as a Non-
executive Director with effect
from 16 February 2022. He is
also a member of the
Investment Committee.

Mr. Lam is the financial controller of VMS Investment Group
Limited, which is an investment company specializing in equity
investments, private equity investments and structured financing.

Before that, Mr. Lam worked in a private group engaging in
investment properties and oil and gas industry as head of finance
control, and in international audit firms over 10 years. Mr. Lam has
developed extensive experience in finance and accounting,
treasury, tax and corporate governance. Mr. Lam graduated from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a bachelor's degree of
Arts in Accountancy. He is also a member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS
EF BN

MR. LAU MAN TAK
(aged 54)

Mr. Lau Man Tak (“Mr. Lau”) has
been appointed as an
Independent Non-executive
Director since 28 September
2017. He is also the chairman
of the Audit Committee, and a
member of each of the
Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the
Investment Committee.

Mr. Lau graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University with
a bachelor's degree of arts in accountancy in November 1991. Mr.
Lau has more than 20 years of experience in finance and
accounting. He is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of each of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in United Kingdom,
The Hong Kong Institute of Directors and the Hong Kong Securities
and Investment Institute.

Mr. Lau is currently the chairman and a non-executive director of
REF Holdings Limited (“REF") (stock code: 1631) and an
independent non-executive director of Plus Group Holdings Inc.
(stock code: 2486), both of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. He was also an independent non-executive
director of Kingston Financial Group Limited (the shares of which
were withdrawn voluntarily from listing on the Stock Exchange on
27 February 2023) until his resignation on 8 March 2023. Mr. Lau
was an executive director and chairman of TEM Holdings Limited
(“TEM") since 2015 and was re-designated as a director in January
2021 upon the withdrawal of the listing of TEM by way of
privatisation. He was also an independent non-executive director
of Chinese Food and Beverage Group Limited since February 2019
until his resignation upon its cancellation of listing on GEM of the
Stock Exchange on 13 July 2021.
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MR. ERIC LEE HON MAN
(aged 57)

Mr. Eric Lee Hon Man (“Mr.
Lee”) has been appointed as an
Independent Non-executive
Director since 28 September
2017. He is the chairman of
the Nomination Committee,
and a member of each of the
Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Lee is currently an independent non-executive director of REF
Holdings Limited (“REF") (stock code: 1631), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He was an independent
non-executive director of TEM Holdings Limited (“TEM”) since April
2016 until his resignation in January 2021 upon withdrawal of the
listing of TEM by way of privatization. Mr. Lee is currently employed
by Opus Capital Limited, a company engaging in advising on
corporate finance and dealing in securities, as managing director.
He graduated from the University of Birmingham, the United
Kingdom with a bachelor’s degree of engineering in electronic and
electrical engineering in July 1988, and obtained a master's degree
in business administration from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong in December 1993.

Mr. Lee has over 20 years of experience in the corporate finance
industry. From December 2020 to July 2022, he worked at Alliance
Capital Partners Limited, a company engaging in advising on
corporate finance and dealing in securities, as managing director.
From March 2017 to June 2020, he worked at Orient Capital (Hong
Kong) Limited, a company engaging in advising on corporate
finance, as managing director of investment banking department.
From August 2015 to February 2017, Mr. Lee worked at LY Capital
Limited, a company engaging in advising on corporate finance, as a
director. From April 2002 to November 2014, he worked at First
Shanghai Capital Limited, a company engaging in advising on
corporate finance, and his last position was managing director.
From July 1997 to March 2002, he worked at DBS Asia Capital
Limited, a company engaging in advising on corporate finance, and
his last position was vice president.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS
EF BN

MR. TO CHUN WAI
(aged 67)

Mr. To Chun Wai (“Mr. To")
has been appointed as an
Independent Non-executive
Director since 1 March 2021.
He is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee, and
a member of each of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination
Committee.

Mr. To is at present the chief executive officer of a Hong Kong
registered consultancy company. He is also an independent non-
executive director of Auto Italia Holdings Limited (stock code: 720)
and Greenheart Group Limited (stock code: 94), DeTai New Energy
Group Limited (stock code: 559) and NOVA Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1360), all of which are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Mr. To spent most of his career with the Hong Kong
Police, beginning in 1974 and rising up the ranks to Assistant
Commissioner (Crime), being responsible for the overall charge of
policy designs and operations of, among others, the Commercial
Crime Bureau, Organized Crime & Triad Bureau, Criminal
Intelligence Bureau, Financial Investigation Bureau (anti money-
laundering), and Technology Crime Bureau, until his retirement in
2011.

Mr. To was awarded the Police Meritorious Service Medal by the
Chief Executive of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, in
recognition of his long and staunch service and contribution to the
Hong Kong society. From 2011 to 2012, he served as a part-time
tutor at the University of Hong Kong. Between April 2013 and
August 2018, he served as the chief strategic officer, chief
operating officer, and a non-executive director of Integrated Waste
Solutions Group Holdings Limited (“IWS"), the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 923),
and sat on both the remuneration and nomination committees of
IWS during his tenure of services.

Mr. To has wide administrative and management experiences in

both the public and private sectors, and holds a master degree of
public administration from the University of Hong Kong.
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PROFILES OF THE GROUP’S KEY PERSONNEL

MR. GARY TSE CHI CHIU

MEng (Civil & Architectural),
CEng, MiStructE, MCIOB, MHKIE,
MHKICM, ICE, RPE(Structural),
Chartered Construction
Manager (aged 46)

Mr. Gary Tse Chi Chiu (“Mr. Tse")
was appointed as an Acting
Managing Director for the
interiors and special projects
business (the "“ISP Business”)
and a member of the Executive
Committee with effect from 7 May 2020. He is also a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company and is responsible for
strategic planning, business development and overall operation of
ISP Business and in charge of Planning, Engineering and Plant
Department of the Group.

Mr. Tse joined interiors and special projects division in 2011. He
has strong background in structural design and consultation
knowledge and processes over 20 years of experience in the
design, construction, supervision and project management. He has
also been involved in various building, civil and renovation projects
in Hong Kong, Macau, United Kingdom and Middle East.

Mr. Tse is a qualified contractor specialising in construction
management in a wide range of construction projects including
high rise class residential and commercial development, social
facilities, shopping complex, hotel, hospital building; fitting-out
works together with alteration and addition works, major
demolition and repair works. He also qualified as a combined
Chartered Civil and Structural Engineer as well as a Registered
Professional Engineer.
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PROFILES OF THE GROUP’S KEY PERSONNEL
SEASS @M

MR. LEUNG CHI MING
EMBA RICS CIH CPM (aged 50)

Mr. Leung Chi Ming ("Mr.
Leung") is the Regional Director
(China) and a director of
certain subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Leung holds an
Executive Master's Degree of
Business Administration in Real
Estate from Shanghai Advanced
Institute of Finance. He is
also currently a Registered
Professional Housing Manager of Institute of Real Estate
Management and a member of each of the Chartered Institute of
Housing Asia Pacific Branch and Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyor.

Mr. Leung joined the Group in 1999 and has over 20 years of
extensive experience in real estate consultancy and service in
Hong Kong and China. He is responsible for the overall strategic
planning, business development and management operations of
the real estate business of the Group in China.

ISP HOLDINGS LFMITED

PRI
EMBA, RICS, CIH, CPM (50 5%)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company recognises the interests of and its responsibility to
one of its most important stakeholders — the shareholders. It is
committed to upholding high standards of corporate governance
as a means of protecting and enhancing shareholder value and
ensuring the integrity of operations of the Group. Its corporate
governance standards are built on the principles of independence,
accountability, transparency and fairness with an appropriate
system of checks and balances.

The Group has the mission to provide comprehensive and
innovative solutions to achieve high quality results in both interiors
and special projects business in Hong Kong and property and
facility management business in China, so as to create value for its
stakeholders whilst maintaining long-term profitability and assets
growth with the adoption of flexible business model and prudential
risk and capital management framework. The Board and the
management always play a visionary role in the Group'’s
development of business model to align the culture of the Group
emphasizing customer-focus, integrity, teamwork, innovation and
the pursuit of excellence, together with responsible business and
sustainability. Through the implementation of our Group's
business model, we are committed to proactively providing
comprehensive and innovative solution in our provisions of quality
services, with the aim to enhance customer satisfaction. The
Group's business strategies drive for business goal and expansion,
setting of the Group's risk appetite and tolerance levels, and
undertaking appropriate initiatives to motivate staff to achieve
business and financial targets. The Directors at their Board
meetings during the year 2023 discussed business strategies,
development and opportunities and followed up on the
implementation status. Details of the Group’s business
performance and financial review for the year 2023 are set out in
the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section of this annual
report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has applied the principles of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code") as contained in Appendix C1 of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on
the Stock Exchange.

code provisions set out the CG Code.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
PREIGERS

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Board has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") as set out in
Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules (as amended from time to time by
the Stock Exchange) as its own code of conduct for regulating
securities transactions by Directors. Having made specific enquiry
by the Company, all Directors confirmed they complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the
Reporting Year.

The Board has further adopted the Model Code as the written
guidelines for regulating securities transactions by the senior
management (whose names are set out in Profiles of the Group's
Key Personnel on pages 25 to 26 of this annual report) and certain
employees (collectively, the “Relevant Employees”) of the Group.
The Board believes that the Relevant Employees may, by virtue of
their positions, likely be in possession of unpublished inside
information of the Group.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprised five
Directors, including one Executive Director, one Non-executive
Director and three Independent Non-executive Directors.

The names of the Directors are set out below:

Executive Director

Mr. Kingston Chu Chun Ho (Chairman)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Lam Chun Kit

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lau Man Tak
Mr. Eric Lee Hon Man
Mr. To Chun Wai
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An updated list of Directors identifying their roles and functions is
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.isp-hk.com.hk).

Coming from diverse businesses and professional backgrounds,
the Board members possess a balance of skills, expertise and
diversity of perspectives appropriate for the requirements of the
business of the Group and they are collectively responsible for
promoting the success of the Company by directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs. Save as disclosed in the Profiles
of Directors set out on pages 20 to 24 of this annual report, there
is no relationship among the Board members.

The Company currently has three Independent Non-executive
Directors representing more than one-third of the total number of
Board members and is in compliance with the requirement under
Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules. The views of the Independent Non-
executive Directors carry weight in the Board's decisions, and their
participation helps the Board exercise judgement, make decisions
and act objectively in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has given to the
Company an annual confirmation of independence with reference
to the factors set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all the Independent Non-executive
Directors are and have remained independent. Mr. Lau Man Tak,
chairman of the Audit Committee, has the appropriate accounting
and financial management expertise required under Rule 3.10(2)
of the Listing Rules.

The Company has put in place mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input available to the Board. This is achieved by giving
Directors access to external independent professional advice from
legal advisers and auditor, as well as the full attendance of all
independent non-executive Directors at all the meetings of the
Board and its relevant committees held during the Reporting Year.

The Board reviews the implementation and effectiveness of the
aforementioned mechanisms on an annual basis. The Board has
reviewed the mechanisms and is satisfied with the implementation
and effectiveness of such mechanisms.

The Board members, including all the Independent Non-executive

Directors, are expressly identified in all corporate communications
which disclose the names of the Directors of the Company.
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Functions

The Board has an ultimate oversight of the Group's activities. Its
primary functions are to set and direct the Company’s strategy and
to monitor and measure the management's performance. The
Board is accountable for the overall strategic development of the
Group with the objective to enhance shareholder value. Material
matters are reserved for the Board's considerations or decisions
which include, among other things, overall strategy of the Group,
business plans, annual budgets, significant capital expenditure,
interim and annual results and reports, dividend policy and
payments, material acquisitions, disposals or investment
proposals, directors' appointments, re-appointments or removal,
and other material transactions.

The Board has delegated certain of its responsibilities to the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee,
Investment Committee and Executive Committee. It has also
delegated the day-to-day operations of the Group's business to
the senior management. Delegation of duties to the Board
committees and daily business operations to the management are
discussed on pages 35 to 44 of this report.

Board Chairman and Managing Director

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive should
be clearly established and set out in writing.

Mr. Kingston Chu Chun Ho is the Chairman of the Board. During
the Reporting Year, the role of chief executive of the Company was
played by Mr. Gary Tse Chi Chiu as the Acting Managing Director
for the ISP Business.

At all times, the Chairman of the Board and the Acting Managing
Director are not related to each other and there are clear divisions
among their responsibilities with a view to achieving a balance of
power and authority. The Chairman of the Board provides
leadership to the Board in terms of formulating policies and
strategies. The Acting Managing Director has the overall
responsibility of implementing the decisions, policies and strategies
approved by the Board, and overseeing the Group's business and
operations. The duties of the Chairman and the Acting Managing
Director are set out in their respective service agreements entered
into with the Company.
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With the support from the Acting Managing Director and the
Company Secretary, the Chairman of the Board ensures that all
Directors are properly briefed on all issues arising from Board
meetings and receive adequate, complete and reliable information
in a timely manner.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

The Board has assumed the responsibility to consider the
appointment, re-election and removal of the Directors. The Board
set up a Nomination Committee in 2011 to recommend the
appointment, re-election and removal of the Directors.

All the Independent Non-executive Directors have entered into
letters of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
subject to the requirements of the Listing Rules and the bye-laws
of the Company (“Bye-laws”), including the requirement of
retirement by rotation and re-election or standing for re-election
at annual general meetings (“AGM(s)") of the Company at least
once every three years. The term is renewable upon expiry.

Any new Director to be appointed by the Company shall be
provided with information on duties and obligations of director,
relevant regulatory requirements and the Group's business affairs.
All Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as
an addition to the existing Board shall hold office until the next
following AGM and shall then be eligible for re-election at the
meeting according to the Bye-laws.

Board Meetings

Regular Board meetings are held at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. Tentative dates of regular Board
meetings for next year are scheduled approaching the end of each
calendar year in order to facilitate the Directors to plan for
attendance of the meetings. Additional Board meetings will be
convened, as and when required, to deal with ad hoc issues. Any
Director who is not able to present physically may participate at
any Board meeting through electronic means of communication,
such as conference telephone or other similar communication
equipment, in accordance with the Bye-laws.
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Board Proceedings

Notice convening each regular Board meeting is sent at least 14
days in advance, and reasonable notice is given for other Board
meetings. The Company Secretary assists the Chairman of the
Board to prepare the meeting notice and agenda. Each Director
may include any item on the agenda. The agenda, accompanied by
meeting papers with sufficient and reliable information, are sent to
each Director normally not less than three days before the date of
a Board meeting to enable the Directors to make informed
decisions on the matters to be discussed, except where a Board
meeting is convened on a very urgent basis to consider any urgent
ad hoc matter.

The Company Secretary is responsible for taking minutes of the
Board meetings, drafts and final versions of which will be circulated
to Directors for comment and records, respectively, and in both
cases, within a reasonable time after each meeting. Minutes shall
record in sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board at
the meeting and decisions reached, including any concerns raised
by the Directors or dissenting view (if any) expressed. Minutes of
Board meetings are open for inspection to any Director on
request.

All Directors have access to the Company Secretary who is
responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are complied with
and all applicable rules and regulations relating to Board process
are followed. Directors have full and timely access to all relevant
information, including reports from the Board committees and
reports from the management. They are also provided with
updates on the latest developments of the Listing Rules and other
relevant legal and regulatory changes and matters of relevance to
the Directors in discharging their duties as and when appropriate.

To assist the Directors to discharge their duties, the Board has
adopted written procedures for any Director who wishes to seek
independent professional advice at the Company's expenses.

Board approval is also given by circulation of resolution in writing
pursuant to the Bye-laws on urgent matters which require
decisions in a tight timeframe and hence convening a Board
meeting is difficult or not practicable. In the case where a
resolution in writing is circulated, sufficient information and
explanatory materials will also be provided to the Directors at the
same time.
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If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest
in a matter (including material transactions with connected
persons) which the Board determines to be material, the Board will
hold a meeting to consider the relevant matter.

Appropriate insurance cover on Directors’ and officers' liabilities
has been arranged to protect the Directors and officers of the

Group.

Attendances of Meetings

Four Board meetings, two Audit Committee meetings, one
Remuneration Committee meeting, one Nomination Committee
meeting, one Investment Committee meeting and one general
meeting were held during the Reporting Year. Attendances of
these meetings by Directors are set out below:

EXREBHRS
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Executive Director HTES

Kingston Chu Chun Ho PNV 414 na 10 10 " "

Non-Executive Director F4TES

Lam Chun Kit Mkl 414 na na na 10 1"

Independent Non-executive Directors BUFUfES

Lau Man Tak Yue 414 i 10 10 " "

ric Lee Hon Man FHN 44 0 111 111 nla 111

To Chun Wai g 414 iy 111 111 na 1
n/a: not applicable n/a: N iE A

During the Reporting Year, the Chairman of the Board also held
one meeting with the Independent Non-executive Directors
without the other Director’s presence.

Code provision C.1.6 of the CG Code provides that independent
non-executive directors and other non-executive directors should
attend general meetings to gain and develop a balanced
understanding of the views of shareholders generally. All
Independent Non-executive Directors attended the AGM held on
25 May 2023 by electronic means.
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Directors’ Training and Professional Development

Every Director keeps abreast of responsibilities as a Director of the
Company and of the conduct, business activities and development
of the Company.

Directors are aware of the requirement under the code provision
C.1.4 of CG Code regarding continuous professional development.
During the Reporting Year, the Company provided reading
materials to the Directors for self-study. In addition, the Directors
have attended external courses or director training webcasts
organised by various organisations for their own continuous
training.

Directors also reviewed the business and financial updates and
other reading materials provided to them concerning latest
developments in corporate governance practices, and relevant
legal and regulatory developments. A record of the Directors'’
participation in various continuous professional development
programme is kept by the company secretarial department. A
summary of training received by the Directors for the Reporting
Year according to the records provided by the Directors is as
follows:
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BOARD COMMITTEES

During the Reporting Year, each of the Board committees, namely,
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee, Investment Committee and the Executive
Committee, assisted in the execution of the Board's responsibilities
and to oversee particular aspect of the Group's affairs. Each Board
committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its
duties properly, and holds meetings in accordance with the Bye-
laws, its specific written terms of reference and, where applicable,
the proceedings of Board meeting.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises three Independent Non-
executive Directors. The members of the Audit Committee during
the Reporting Year and up to date of this report were:

Mr. Lau Man Tak (Chairman)
Mr. Eric Lee Hon Man
Mr. To Chun Wai

None of the Audit Committee members is or has been a former
partner of the Company’s existing external auditor for the past two
years.

The Audit Committee is primarily responsible for conducting an
independent and objective review of the financial reporting
process, internal controls and audit function with emphasis on:

()  appraising the quality of the audit effort of the Company’s
internal and external auditors;

(i) serving as an independent and objective party to review the
financial information presented by management to
shareholders, regulators and the general public;

(i)  ascertaining the adequacy of the Company's systems of risk
management and internal control which management and
the Board have established; and

(iv) serving as a useful channel of communication between the
Board and the external and internal auditors on matters
relating to and arising out of the external and internal audits.
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The authority and duties of the Audit Committee are set out in its
specific written terms of reference. Full text of the terms of
reference of the Audit Committee is available on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include, among other
things, recommending to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment or removal of the Company's external auditor and
on its remuneration; reviewing the Company's interim and annual
financial statements and other financial reports; and reviewing the
Company's financial reporting system, internal control procedures
(including monitoring the effectiveness of the internal audit
function) and risk management system. The Audit Committee has
explicit authority to investigate any activity within its duties and
responsibilities and the authority to obtain external legal or other
independent professional advice if it considers necessary.

The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year. During the
Reporting Year, two Audit Committee meetings were held.
Attendances of the meetings have been disclosed on page 33 of
this report.

During the Reporting Year, the Audit Committee members with the
participation of the internal and external auditors and the
management, (i) reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group; (ii) reviewed the annual results for
the year ended 31 December 2022 and the interim results for the
period ended 30 June 2023 and the related financial statements of
the Company with a view to ensuring that these financial
statements were prepared in accordance with the accounting
principles and standards generally accepted in Hong Kong; (iii)
considered the reports from the external auditor on the scope and
findings of its independent review of the interim financial
statements and audit of the annual financial statements; (iv)
reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff of the Group's accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions and their training programmes and budget; (v)
reviewed the report on continuing connected transactions; (vi)
reviewed and approved the external auditor’s fees for audit and
non-audit services; (vii) reviewed the independence of external
auditor; and (viii) recommended the Board to nominate the re-
appointment of the external auditor at AGM.

There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee's view on re-appointment of external auditor, and they
both have agreed to recommend the re-appointment of BDO
Limited as the Company's external auditor for the ensuing year at
the 2024 AGM.

P’S BEIEILEIAD NGRS NE=

ERZEGCERIBEINATESHR
REEAR BEZZBEGCRELEEZXEE
BN AN R E) R B P E A o

BERZBEZIERACR (EREFE)RE
£ ENZEREBRARA I LA K5t
EMemESEEFhER  FEHARRTH
REEMBRRIAREMP B RS - Win T
ARBZHBRBEE - AREERF (B
EEABERBEE 2R RERERFIE o

EZZEQRABMER HEEBEREME
HEANRAEEMNES XARREZA/LE

RSN ERAEMBIERER -

e
=i

IREF$ HE3

Mﬁ%iﬁvgﬁééAﬁéazﬂW%&
HNEE A% SR AD B2 E WEFEAEEZRBRE
B & A e %IJF (NFBEARRQFEZE 2022
FI2ANBILEFENFEFEE KRB E2023
F6 7308 L1-HAR A R HAZE 48 DA R AR B8 B 7%
WK UNERZEVBRRBERSARE
SHIR B M B 4R &Y (iiil) B B NI AR BRI
B EFEHEHRRETB IR MEZX
ZEHERBASAEREDL Z®RE (VBRI A
SEMNS  ABBZNTIEARDEN B
TZE8R BEMEBEORT  UERHSE
MEIRERTEE (v R ERER SR
& (vi)@éﬁwtt}ﬁﬁl\ﬂﬂ?%ﬂim%ff%}zal%%
T’;HWQ%% P (Vi) AR EY FNEE A% BRAT &9 9B 3L
FuilEZEETSeERREAFAS LIERE
ﬁ*&%%ﬁ%%o

EXQLERZBENENRTINEXHM
LW B|AEER  MEFHERBNRAEE
TZ2024FMREAFAG L FHEEHZE
BEIUGEREGAMEBMERIBA/AR
BIORF 2 SN AL BAD

2023 ANNUAL REPORT




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises four Directors,
a majority of whom are Independent Non-executive Directors. The
members of the Remuneration Committee during the Reporting
Year and up to date of this report were:

Mr. To Chun Wai (Chairman)
Mr. Kingston Chu Chun Ho
Mr. Lau Man Tak

Mr. Eric Lee Hon Man

The authority and duties of the Remuneration Committee are set
out in its specific written terms of reference. Full text of the terms
of reference of the Remuneration Committee is available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee is primarily responsible for
reviewing the remuneration policy of the Group and the
remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management
of the Company. Its duties are summarised below:

() make recommendations to the Board on the Company's
policy and structure for all Directors and senior management
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

(i) review and approve the management's remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board's corporate goals and
objectives;

(i)  make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual Executive Directors and senior
management;

(iv) make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of Non-executive Directors;

(v) consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities, and employment
conditions elsewhere in the Group;

(vi) review and approve compensation payable to Executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;
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(vii) review and approve compensation arrangements, relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that they are consistent with contractual terms and are
otherwise reasonable and appropriate; and

(viii) ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year.
During the Reporting Year, the Remuneration Committee held one
meeting and passed written resolutions. Attendance of the
meeting has been disclosed on page 33 of this report.

During the Reporting Year, the Remuneration Committee members
reviewed the revised terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee with recommendation to the Board for approval.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration
of the senior management by band for the Reporting Year is set
out below:
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The Group sets out its remuneration policy by making reference to
the prevailing market conditions and benchmark of the industry
and formulating an appropriate performance-based reward
system, so as to ensure that the Group is able to attract, retain and
motivate executives of the highest calibre, which is essential to the
successful leadership and effective management of the Group. The
performance measures are balanced between financial and
industrial comparatives. The components of remuneration package
may consist of basic salary, allowances, benefits-in-kind, fringe
benefits including medical insurance and contributions to pension
funds, as well as incentives like discretionary bonus, participation
in a share option scheme or long-term rewards.
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The remuneration packages of the Executive Directors and senior
management of the Company are determined by the
Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board by reference
to their respective duties and responsibilities in the Group,
individual performance, achievement of the Group's targets and
the prevailing market terms in the industry.

The remunerations of the Non-executive Director and the
Independent Non-executive Directors are approved by the Board
with the recommendation of the Remuneration Committee by
reference to their duties and responsibilities in the Group, time
involvement and the prevailing market situation.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises four Directors, a
majority of whom are Independent Non-executive Directors. The
members of the Nomination Committee during the Reporting Year
and up to date of this report were:

Mr. Eric Lee Hon Man (Chairman)
Mr. Kingston Chu Chun Ho

Mr. Lau Man Tak

Mr. To Chun Wai

The authority and duties of the Nomination Committee are set out
in its specific written terms of reference. Full text of the terms of
reference of the Nomination Committee is available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Nomination Committee is primarily responsible for formulating
nomination policy and leading the process of identifying and
nominating suitable candidates. Its duties are summarised below:

(i) review the structure, size and diversity (including without
limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, skills, knowledge, professional experience and
length of service) of the Board at least annually and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Group's corporate strategy;

(i) identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships
based on the objective criteria with due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board;
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(i)  taking into account the Group's corporate strategy and mix
of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity needed in the
future, to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors, in particular, the Chairman and the
Chief Executive;

(iv) assess the independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors and review the Independent Non-executive
Directors’ annual confirmations on their independence; and
make disclosure of its review results in the Corporate
Governance Report;

(v)  regularly review the time required from a Director to perform
his/her responsibilities and report to the Board of their
findings; and

(vi) review the policies on both the Board Diversity Policy and the
Nomination Policy, as appropriate; and review the
measurable objectives that the Board has set for
implementing the Board Diversity Policy, and the progress on
achieving the objectives; and make disclosure of its review
results in the Corporate Governance Report annually.

The Nomination Committee shall meet at least once a year. During
the Reporting Year, the Nomination Committee held one meeting.
Attendance of the meeting has been disclosed on page 33 of this
report.

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy. Pursuant to the
Board Diversity Policy, the Board shall consider the benefits of
diversity when they review the Board composition. In designing the
Board composition, Board diversity has been considered from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to skills, background,
experience, knowledge, expertise, culture, independence, race,
gender, and other qualities of Directors. All Board appointments
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the
Board Diversity Policy and review the Board composition under
diversified perspectives annually to ensure the Board has a
balance of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the achievement of the strategic
objectives and sustainable development of the Company.
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Currently, all Board members are male. The Board has set down
its goals to appoint one female as Board member no later than 31
December 2024 as part of its effort to achieve diversity at the
Board level. The Nomination Committee will continue to monitor
and actively consider different aspects of diversity in the
boardroom, and recommend further actions or plan to the Board
when necessary.

As at 31 December 2023, more than 28.5% of the Group's global
workforce were female, with no senior management roles being
held by women. The chart below summarizes the share of women
at different position levels across the Group as at 31 December
2023.

The Board considers that the Group'’s workforce (including senior
management) is adequately diverse of gender presently in view of
the business activities and nature of the Group.
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Note: The above data is calculated based on the number of total employees of the
Group as of 31 December 2023.

The Board, through the Nomination Committee, has reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and
confirmed that the Board has an appropriate mix of skills and
experience to deliver the Company's strategy.

The Board has also adopted the Nomination Policy which sets out
the selection criteria and nomination procedures to identify, select
and recommend candidates for directorships.

Selection Criteria

When assessing the suitability of the proposed candidate to the
Board regarding the appointment or re-appointment of any
existing director(s) of the Board, the Nomination Committee
should consider the following factors:

1. The candidate should be of good character, integrity and
competent to act as director of the Company;

2. The candidate should possess the skills, knowledge, and

experience in the commercial and professional fields which
are relevant to the principal business of the Group;
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The candidate should be able to devote sufficient time and
attention to the Board; and

The candidates should be considered on merit, against
objective criteria and with due regard to the diversity
perspectives set out in the Board Diversity Policy of the
Company.

Nomination Procedures

1.

The Secretary of the Nomination Committee shall convene a
meeting, and invite nominations of candidates from Board
members (if any), for consideration by the Nomination
Committee. The Nomination Committee may also nominate
candidates for its consideration;

The Nomination Committee shall undertake adequate due
diligence in respect of appointment of any proposed
candidate to the Board, prior to making recommendations
for the Board's consideration and approval;

The Nomination Committee shall make recommendations to
the Board for its consideration and recommendation in
respect of re-appointment of any existing Director(s) of the
Board, for the proposed candidates to stand for re-election
at a general meeting;

The procedures for shareholders’ nomination of any
proposed candidate for election as a director should follow
the “procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a director of the Company” which are available on
the Company's website; and

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating
to its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at
a general meeting.

During the Reporting Year, the Nomination Committee members (i)
reviewed and considered the structure, size, diversity and
composition of the Board; (i) assessed the independence of
Independent Non-executive Directors; (iii) considered the re-
election of directors at the AGM,; (iv) the appointment of a new
Non-executive Director; and (v) recommended the aforesaid
matters to the Board for approval.
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Investment Committee

The Investment Committee currently comprises one Executive
Director, one Non-executive Director and one Independent Non-
executive Director. The members of the Investment Committee
during the Reporting Year were:

Mr. Kingston Chu Chun Ho (Chairman)
Mr. Lam Chun Kit
Mr. Lau Man Tak

The authority and duties of the Investment Committee are set out
in its specific written terms of reference. Full text of the terms of
reference of the Investment Committee is available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The principal
duties of the Investment Committee are to review and evaluate
any investment projects proposed by the Company and make
recommendations to the Board on such investment projects. It
also monitors the investments of the Group. Meetings of the
Investment Committee shall be held at least once a year.

During the Reporting Year, the Investment Committee held one
meeting to discharge their duties. Attendance of the meeting has
been disclosed on page 33 of this report.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee currently comprises one Executive
Director and one senior management member of the Group. The
members of the Executive Committee during the Reporting Year
were:

Mr. Kingston Chu Chun Ho (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. Gary Tse Chi Chiu (Acting Managing Director for ISP Business)

The authority and duties of the Executive Committee are set out in
its specific written terms of reference. Full text of the terms of
reference of the Executive Committee is available on the website
of the Company. The principal duties of the Executive Committee
are, pursuant to the Authorisation Matrix/Limits of Authority of
each subsidiary, to approve tender submissions and/or payment
requisitions when the amount of tender or payment exceeds
certain limits, to approve banking matters, the issue of guarantees
to third party customers, the issue of shares under share option
scheme and promotion or appointment of senior management at
operational level, and other duties delegated by the Board from
time to time.
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The Executive Committee shall meet as and when required
depending on business and operation needs. Members'
attendances would depend on the importance of the matters to
be transacted. Instead of meetings, the members of the Executive
Committee would also adopt written resolutions to transact the
abovementioned corporate actions expeditiously should the need
arise. During the Reporting Year, the Executive Committee
executed two times of written resolutions to discharge their duties.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for determining the policy for the
corporate governance of the Company and performing the
corporate governance duties as below:

() develop and review the Company's policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(i) review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(i)  review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with all legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv) develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(v) review the Company's compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure requirements in the Corporate Governance
Report.

The Board has in place the procedures for Directors to seek
independent professional advice if necessary.

DELEGATION TO MANAGEMENT

The monitoring of the day-to-day business operations of the
Group and the implementation of the business plans and
strategies adopted by the Board are performed by the senior
management led primarily by the Managing Director(s) of the
Company.

The Group has also organised a management meeting for senior
management and other relevant staff on a monthly basis to review
business operations with significant issue, review the financial and
business performance against the budget approved by the Board,
and review the implementation of the strategies and policies
adopted by the Board.
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Risk Management Committee

With a view to further enhancing risk management at all levels, a
Risk Management Committee, as approved by the Audit Committee
and the Board, has been established to assume the responsibility
for identifying, evaluating, assessing and managing risk areas from
a company-wide perspective. The Risk Management Committee
comprises senior management and corporate managers of the
Group. Its findings and recommendations are reported to the
Audit Committee and the Board.

Risk Management

The Board has the overall responsibility for establishing,
maintaining and evaluating the adequacy and effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group on an
ongoing basis. Such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate risk of failure to achieve business objective, and can only
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. To ensure systematic coverage of all
auditable areas and effective deployment of resources, an every
3-year internal audit (“IA") plan with reference to the risk
assessment results has been formulated and approved by the
Audit Committee. During the Reporting Year, the IA plan focused
on the examination of the financial and treasury management,
management of litigation and claims, procurement control and
compliance with applicable rules and regulations. Subsequent
meetings were conducted to update the IA plan in order to reflect
the major changes in the organisational structure and business
objectives, review the IA reports and highlight the more significant
issues identified from the IA reviews and follow up actions taken.
Meetings between the head of IA function and senior management
are conducted monthly to stay current with market developments
and changes in the business strategy.

Management is responsible for setting the appropriate tone from
the top, performing risk assessments, and owning the design,
implementation and maintenance of internal controls. The
associated policies and procedures for risk management and
internal controls, which are properly documented and
communicated to staff, are designed to help ensure that the
Group's assets are safeguarded against unauthorised use or
disposition; relevant rules and regulations are adhered to and
complied with; complete, accurate and reliable financial and
accounting records are maintained; and key risk factors including
business strategic, operational, financial, corporate reputation and
regulatory compliance risks which may impact the Group’s
performance are appropriately identified and managed.
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To ensure the risk management process is consistent with the best
practice, the Directors of the Company review the existing practice,
and their suggestions will be incorporated into the Group's risk
management framework in due course.

The Group's risk management framework comprises the following
key features:

(i) A distinct organisational structure for different responsible
parties with defined authority, responsibilities and risk
management roles;

(i) ~ The Board sets forth the proper risk management culture
and risk appetite for the Group, evaluates and determines
the level of risk that the Group should take and monitor
regularly;

(i) The Risk Management Committee facilitates the risk
assessment process and timely communication to the Audit
Committee and the Board. Also, it ensures key business and
operational risks are being properly identified and managed;
and

(iv) A Risk Management Policy has been established to provide a
framework for the identification, analysis, evaluation,
treatment, monitoring and reporting of key risks at all levels
across the Group to support the achievement of the
organisation's overall strategic objectives.

Identified potential risks are evaluated using appropriate
qualitative and quantitative techniques and risk responses (i.e.
accept, reduce, transfer and avoid) are formulated, which are
consistent with the Group's risk appetite. Risks are assessed based
on a risk assessment matrix that helps to rank the risks into four
risk levels (i.e. Extremely High, High, Medium and Low) and to
prioritise risk management effort to determine the appropriate risk
mitigation plans.

Internal Control

The Group has an IA function, which plays a major role in
monitoring the internal governance of the Group, to conduct
independent reviews of the adequacy and effectiveness of its risk
management and internal control system and report the review
results regularly to the Board through the Audit Committee.
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To ensure systematic coverage of all auditable areas and effective
deployment of resources, an every 3-year IA plan with reference to
the risk assessment results has been formulated and approved by
the Audit Committee. During the Reporting Year, the IA plan
focused on the examination of the fraud control, business strategy,
financial and treasury management, compliance with applicable
rules and regulations, management of litigation and claims,
payment controls and conflict of interest. Subsequent meetings
were conducted to update the IA plan in order to reflect the major
changes in the organisational structure and business objectives,
review the IA reports and highlight the more significant issues
identified from the IA reviews and follow-up actions taken.
Meetings between the head of IA function and senior management
are conducted monthly to stay current with market developments
and changes in the business strategy.

The Group is fully aware of its obligation of handling and
dissemination of inside information under the Listing Rules and
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “SFO"). The Group has a set of procedures and
controls in place to preserve the confidentiality of inside
information relating to the Group. All Board members and senior
management, who are likely to possess the Group's inside
information because of their offices or employments in the Group,
are bound by Model Code. In addition, every employee is required
to follow the guidelines of the code of conduct and the staff
handbook to keep unpublished inside information strictly
confidential.

Review of Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

During the Reporting Year, the Board conducted a review of the
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems of
the Group through discussion with the Audit Committee, which
covered the major control procedures in the areas of business/
strategy, operational, financial, compliance, corporate reputation
and regulatory risk, and was satisfied with the effectiveness of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems.

The changes in the nature and extent of significant risks faced by
the Group and response plans to changes in its business and the
external environment have been evaluated. The scope and quality
of ongoing monitoring of risks and the internal control systems
have been assessed.
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Despite the reopening of societies worldwide from the ravages of
the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19") which began in early 2020, the
business environment had not fully recovered in 2023 and
remained unstable during the Reporting Year. Under such an
unpredictable business environment in the construction industry,
potential project tenders in the market were delayed or cancelled,
which led to fierce competition in the market. Also, the Russo-
Ukrainian conflicts extended to the second year since it began in
2022 and the tense situation on the Korean Peninsula gave rise to
the price of materials, especially concrete, steel and petroleum. ISP
Business had signed the supplier agreement for most of the
materials that its projects required, so as to save certain costs for
our existing projects and the projects pending result of award. The
cost saving from the aforesaid arrangement, however, was offset
by the persistent pressure from a high benchmark interest rate by
the US Fed during the Reporting Year which led to an increased
cost of materials and labor, thus further challenging our potential
project tenders.

In 2023, no significant areas of concern that may affect the Group
to achieve strategic goals were identified. The Board considered
that the risk management and internal control systems are
functioning effectively and adequately.

In addition, confirmation from management on the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group
was received during the Reporting Year.

The Board has reviewed and is satisfied with the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experiences, training
requirements and budgets of the Group's accounting, financial
reporting and IA functions.
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Integrity Monitoring Committee

Each of our staff is given clear guidelines and codes of standard in
the staff handbook with integrity being put as the first and
foremost code of conduct. An anti-corruption policy was set up to
promote and maintain a high level of integrity culture and
professional ethics of the Company to provide customers with
quality services. The policy has been prepared with necessary rules
and regulations to meet the policies’ requirements that (among
others) all directors and employees shall abide by their
commitments, perform their duties professionally, and refrain
from any conduct that violates the law or damages the Company’s
reputation. Meanwhile, a whistle-blowing-type channel which is
implemented by the Integrity Monitoring Committee is to provide
staff and contractors a channel to report issues which might cause
a significant financial loss to, or an adverse impact on the image of
the Company. The Integrity Monitoring Committee comprises the
Safety Manager as chairman of the Committee, the Senior
Accounting Manager and the Assistant Human Resources Manager
as members.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements which give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Company and the Group on a going
concern basis. With the support of the accounting and finance
functions led by the Senior Accounting Manager of the Group, the
Directors have ensured that the consolidated financial statements
for the Reporting Year have been prepared in accordance with
appropriate accounting policies applied, if any, consistently save
for those new and amended accounting standards as disclosed in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the interim and annual financial statements,
announcements and other financial disclosures required under
the Listing Rules, the Directors aim at presenting a balanced, clear
and understandable assessment of the Group's position and
prospects. Financial information put before the Board for approval
by management is accompanied by sufficient explanation to
enable the Directors to make an informed assessment.

The independent auditor's report, which contains the statement of
the external auditor about its reporting responsibilities on the
Company's financial statements, is set out on pages 78 to 80 of
this annual report.
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AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

The fees paid/payable to BDO Limited, the Company's external
auditor, for services rendered for the Reporting Year are set out as
follows:

% 2460l =

BEREFE RARAIIEREBMEEL
ERRETMEFAAERARREEREME
/N ERHEIMT

E IR
FREZRS

Audit services
Non-audit services

1,025
155

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating the Board
process, as well as communications among Board members. The
Company Secretary complied with all the qualifications under the
Listing Rules. The Company Secretary is Mr. Eric Chan Kwong
Leung (“Mr. Chan"), who is engaged and appointed by the Company
from an external secretarial services provider. The primary
corporate contact person at the Company during the Reporting
Year was Mr. Gary Tse Chi Chiu, Acting Managing Director of the
ISP Business.

For the Reporting Year, Mr. Chan has undertaken not less than 15
hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS, INVESTOR RELATIONS
AND COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company engages with shareholders through various
communication channels and a Shareholders’ Communication
Policy is in place to ensure that shareholders’ views and concerns
are appropriately addressed.

In summary, the Shareholders’ Communication Policy aims to
ensure that, among others, the shareholders are provided with
ready, equal, regular and timely access to material information
about the Company in order to maintain an on-going dialogue with
the shareholders and to enable the shareholders to exercise their
rights in an informed manner.

The Company communicates information to the shareholders
through different channels, including, among others, its periodical
financial announcements and reports, annual general meetings
and other general meetings (if any), all the disclosures submitted
to the Stock Exchange and its corporate communications and
other publications on the Company’s website.

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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The Company's general meetings are a valuable forum for the
Board to communicate directly with the shareholders and to
answer questions that shareholders may raise. Separate
resolutions are proposed at general meetings for each substantial
issue, including the re-election and election of individual directors.
The detailed procedures of conducting a poll are explained to
shareholders at the commencement of the general meetings, to
ensure that shareholders are familiar with such procedures.

To solicit and obtain feedback from shareholders, the Company
provides shareholders with channels to express their views on
matters affecting the Company including (i) Hong Kong Branch
Share Registrar of the Company, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, for enquiries on shareholdings; (ii)
communication means provided in annual reports of the Company
for direct questions, request for publicly available information and
provision of comments and suggestions.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the Shareholders' Communication Policy including steps taken at
the general meetings, the handling of queries received (if any) and
the multiple channels of communication and engagement in place,
and considered that the Shareholders’ Communication Policy was
properly implemented during the Reporting Year and is effective.

Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to the
Board

Enquiries from shareholders are welcome through the following
channels to the Company:

() by post to the Company's Hong Kong principal place of
business at 3/F, Hay Nien Building, No. 1 Tai Yip Street, Kwun
Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong

(i) by telephone at (852) 2635 8290

(i) by facsimile transmission to (852) 2811 8401

(iv) by email at investor@isp-hk.com.hk

(v) on the Company's website at www.isp-hk.com.hk under “IR
Contact” of “Investor Relations”
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Procedures for Convening a Special General Meeting by
Shareholders

In accordance with the Bye-laws, any shareholder holding not less
than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at a general meeting shall have the right, by written
requisition served to the Board or the Company Secretary, to
require a special general meeting to be convened by the Board for
transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Any vote
of shareholders at a general meeting must be taken by poll. The
chairman of the meeting will explain the poll voting procedures at
the relevant general meeting.

Procedures for Shareholders to Put Forward Proposals at
General Meetings

The following shareholders are entitled to put forward a proposal
(which may properly be put to the meeting) for consideration at a
general meeting of the Company:

() any number of members representing not less than one
twentieth of the total voting rights of the Company on the
date of the requisition; or

(i) notless than 100 members holding shares in the Company.

The requisition specifying the proposal, duly signed by the
shareholders concerned, together with a statement of not more
than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in the
proposal must be deposited at the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong at 3/F, Hay Nien Building, No. 1 Tai Yip
Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The Company would take
appropriate actions and make necessary arrangements, and the
shareholders concerned would be responsible for the expenses
incurred in giving effect thereto in accordance with the
requirements under Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda once valid documents are received.
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CONTINUOUS CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
ENHANCEMENT

The Board is committed to continuous corporate governance
enhancement including giving closer attention to any regulatory
changes with a view to maintaining a corporate culture built on
ethics and integrity and increasing shareholder value as a whole.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

At the 2023 Annual General Meeting, a special resolution was
passed by shareholders to amend the Company's Bye-laws in
order to, amongst others, comply with (i) the Core Shareholder
Protection Standards as set out in Appendix 3 (which has been re-
numbered as Appendix A1 since 31 December 2023) to the Listing
Rules; and (ii) incorporate certain housekeeping changes. The
amended and restated Bye-laws of the Company are available on
the respective websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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HIGHLIGHTS OF 2023 ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

2023 FRIG-HERECHRSHE

As a responsible corporate citizen, we believe in doing well while
doing good. We are mindful that stable and responsible corporate
development can only be achieved when sustainability becomes
the cornerstone of the business. Furthermore, various
environmental, social and governance (“ESG") issues may constitute
risks that threaten the sustainable development of ISP Holdings
Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), but the act of venturing
to solve such issues may lead to new business opportunities.
Hence, to foster Group's longevity and growth, the Group commits
to integrating sustainability principles into every facet of the
business.

The Group's Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the
“ESG Report”) 2023 has been prepared to communicate our
sustainability-related visions, commitments, policies and
performances. It adheres to the “Mandatory Disclosure
Requirements” and “Comply or Explain” provisions of the ESG
Reporting Guide under Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules on the
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Stock Exchange.

Below are some key highlights of the Group's ESG performance in

2023:

TREJNAREEN2023FNRE  HERE
ARBEMETRE

Our Sustainable
Development
RPN HERE

Committed to performing this exercise annually to ensure our existing
priorities, strategies and policies align with stakeholders’ expectations,
sustainability-related risks and opportunities.
EABFETRAR LME%%F?EEEE’HES‘EEFF
& B0 RSB A K% B AT 455 4R 2 PR AR B O L B A B

REMBEFEED

Business
EKEE

Incorporated ESG-related issues and risks, such as climate change, customer
satisfaction, supply chain management and talent retention into our
Enterprise Risk Management in order to reduce the possibility of risks
occurrence and their potential impact. This also strengthens our decision-
making process and allows us to focus on long-term value creation.
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EREBEE-

Customers

BERE

Established mechanism for handling and managing complaints and requests,
ensuring that all customers’ complaints are dealt with in a timely and
professional manner.
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HIGHLIGHTS OF 2023 ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
2023 FRE -HHERESHRSHE

People Developed effective employee communication channels to maintain workplace
AT BRE harmony, encourage innovation, increase inter-departmental cooperation and
help manage a diverse workplace.

BYAMNE TBRRE A TESEOMEE &0 ASERIFT - 1E 0
MPAENAEL AN ERZ TIEN TIESHH -

Community Continued to participate different community investment activities in order to
o= g=1 1§ express our sincere care and concern to all walks of life.

BESETFANHRIRELTY  MZFRARERMEHNOREIEZMEL -

Partners Included “Environmental Protection” section in the contract with our suppliers
BHEEE to encourage them to take environmental measures in their operations.
FEERANASRTEES TCRREFR&E) B D KB MEELETETRER
o
B ht ©
Environment Coordinated the Water Supplies Department and promoted the installation of
REERE flow controllers on taps to improve water-saving efficiency.
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Please visit the websites of the Group and the Stock Exchange to  fR&R NELAREE 2 2023 FIRIE - =& RER
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The Directors present their report and the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
(the “Reporting Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are the provision
of interiors and special projects business (the “ISP Business”) in
Hong Kong and property and facility management business in
China. Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are
set out in note 34 to the financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of segment information are set out in note 7 to the financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Details of the business review information are set out in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages
10 to 19 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Directors consider that environmental protection is essential
to the long-term development of the Group and will constantly
improve management practices so as to minimise waste, maximise
efficiencies and reduce the Group’s negative environmental impact
on the environment.

For details, please refer to the Company’s standalone
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report 2023".

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and the risk of non-compliance with such
requirements. The Group has been allocating system and staff
resources to ensure ongoing compliance with relevant rules and
regulations.

The Group's operations are mainly carried out by the Company's
subsidiaries in Hong Kong, China and Macau while the Company
itself was incorporated in Bermuda and listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) in Hong
Kong. Our establishment and operations accordingly shall comply
with relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong, Bermuda, China
and Macau.
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To ensure compliance with the Competition Ordinance, the Group
has conducted training for staff. The Group also steps up
measures to increase safety awareness amongst the management
and staff to prevent accidents in contravention with safety
regulations.

RISIKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Various risks that the Company may face have been disclosed in
the Corporate Governance Report and the notes to the financial
statements on pages 45 to 48 and pages 115 to 126 of this annual
report respectively.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group ensures all staff are reasonably remunerated and the
Company regularly reviews and improves its policies on
remuneration and benefits, training, occupational health and
safety.

The Group maintains a good relationship with its customers. A
customer complaint handling mechanism is in place to receive,
analyse and study complaints and make recommendations on
remedies with the aim of improving service quality.

The Group is in good relationship with its suppliers and conducts a
fair and strict appraisal of its suppliers.

For details, please refer to the Company's standalone
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report 2023".

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 81 to 82; and the state of affairs of the Group
and of the Company as at 31 December 2023 are set out in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position on pages 83 to 84;
and Statement of Financial Position and Change in Equity of the
Company are set out in note 32 to the financial statements.

The Board did not recommend the payment of interim dividend
for the period ended 30 June 2023 (2022: Nil). On 20 January 2022
and 23 November 2022, the Board declared the payment of
special dividends of HK$0.59 and HK$0.20 per share/per
convertible preference share, respectively, for the year ended 31
December 2022. To preserve funds for the operation and business
development of the Company, the Board did not recommend the
payment of final dividend for the Reporting Year (2022: Nil).
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”),
pursuant to which the Company may declare and distribute
dividends to the shareholders to allow shareholders to share the
Company's profits and for the Company to retain adequate
reserves for future growth. In proposing any dividend payout, the
Board shall also take into account, among others, the Group's
actual and expected financial performance, operating results, cash
flow, financial condition and capital requirements, Shareholders'’
interests, contractual covenants, general business conditions and
strategies, possible effects on the Group's creditworthiness, state
of economy and other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

Such declaration and recommendation of dividends shall be
determined at the sole discretion of the Board and are subject to
the restrictions under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the
Bye-laws and any other applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Company will review the Dividend Policy from time to time and
reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update,
amend and/or modify the Dividend Policy. The Dividend Policy shall
not constitute a legally binding commitment by the Company and
there is no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular
amount in any given period.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the Reporting Year are set out in the
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity on page 85 and in
note 32 to the financial statements respectively.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the operating results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last four financial years and for the Reporting
Year is set out on page 174. This summary does not form a part of
the financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Reporting Year are set out in note 17 to the
financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Reporting Year are set out in note 27 to the financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company at 31 December 2023,
calculated under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, amounted
to HK$125,834,000 (31 December 2022: HK$148,487,000).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws
although there is no restriction against such rights under the laws
of Bermuda.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Director

Mr. Kingston Chu Chun Ho (Chairman)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Lam Chun Kit

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lau Man Tak
Mr. Eric Lee Hon Man
Mr. To Chun Wai

The profiles of Directors who are in office as at the date of this
report are set out on pages 20 to 24 of this annual report.

The Company has received from each of its Independent Non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence and
considers that all the Independent Non-executive Directors are
independent in accordance with the terms of the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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RE-ELECTION OF RETIRING DIRECTORS

In accordance with Bye-laws 87(1) and 87(2) of the Bye-laws, Mr.
Lau Man Tak and Mr. Eric Lee Hon Man shall retire by rotation at
the 2024 AGM, and being eligible, have offered themselves for re-
election at the 2024 AGM. Save for the aforesaid, the other
remaining Directors would continue in office.

The proposed re-election of Mr. Lau Man Tak and Mr. Eric Lee Hon
Man as Independent Non-executive Directors was made in
accordance with the Nomination Policy of the Company and took
into account a wide range of diversity perspectives, including but
not limited to (where applicable) gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge, length of services and independency, with due regard
of the diversity perspectives as set out under the Board Diversity
Policy of the Company.

The Board had assessed and reviewed the written confirmation of
independence of Mr. Lau Man Tak and Mr. Eric Lee Hon Man
based on the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and is satisfied that as at the date of this report, Mr.
Lau Man Tak and Mr. Eric Lee Hon Man remained independent in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board is also of the view that Mr. Lau Man Tak and Mr. Eric Lee
Hon Man would bring to the Board their respective perspectives,
skills and experience, and can contribute to the Company. The
Board believes that their re-election to the Board of the Company
would be in the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors offering themselves for re-election at AGM
have entered into a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which is not determinable within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save for the agreements disclosed in the section headed
“Continuing Connected Transactions” below, there were no
transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation
to the Group's business to which the Company's subsidiaries, its
holding companies or its fellow subsidiaries was a party and in
which any Director and the Director’s connected party had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of or at any time during the Reporting Year.
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DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS

Details of Directors’ emoluments are set out in note 12 to the
financial statements.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTOR

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, change in Director’s
information is set out below:

Mr. Kingston Chu Chun Ho

— ceased to be the member of Guangxi Committee of The
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference with effect
from 18 January 2023.

Updated biographical details of the Directors are also available on
the website of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other Directors' information
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing
Rules.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for disclosed in the sections headed “Share Option Scheme”,
“Convertible Securities, Options, Warrants or Similar Rights” and
“Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short Positions in the
Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company — Convertible
Preference Shares” of this report, the Company did not enter into
any equity-linked agreements during the Reporting Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Bye-law 168 of the Bye-laws, every Director or
other officers of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities
which he may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the
duties of his office or otherwise in relation thereto, and no Director
or other officers shall be liable for any loss, damages or misfortune
which may happen to or be incurred by the Company in the
execution of the duties of his/her office or in relation thereto,
provided that this Bye-law shall only have effect in so far as its
provisions are not avoided by the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda. The Company maintained Directors and officers liability
insurance during the Reporting Year.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

There were no bank loans (2022: Nil) and other borrowings (2022:
Nil) of the Group as at 31 December 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors or chief executive
of the Company had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO),
which were required: (a) to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein; or (c) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At the 2013 AGM, the shareholders approved the adoption of a
share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) which expired
on 16 June 2023. Details of the Share Option Scheme as required
to be disclosed under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules are set out
below:

Summary of the Share Option Scheme
(@) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme is set up for the purpose of
recognising and motivating the contribution of the Eligible
Persons (as defined below) to the Company and/or any of its
subsidiaries and/or any Invested Entity (as defined below).

(b) Participants of the Share Option Scheme

Eligible persons entitled to participate in the Share Option
Scheme (the “Eligible Persons”) include:

(i) any employee (whether full time or part time) of the
Company, any of its subsidiaries, or any entity in which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries holds an equity
interest (the “Invested Entity”); including any Executive
Director of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any
Invested Entity and any employee employed or to be
employed by the Company, any of its subsidiaries or
any Invested Entity, whether in Hong Kong or in The
People’s Republic of China;

(i) any Non-executive Director (including any Independent

Non-executive Director) of the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;
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(c)

ARERER R A

(i) any shareholder of the Company, any of its subsidiaries
or any Invested Entity or any holder of any securities
issued by the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any
Invested Entity who has, in the opinion of the Board,
made contribution to the business growth of the
Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

(v) any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to the
Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

(v) any supplier of goods and/or services to the Company,
any of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

(vi) any business collaborator, business consultant, joint
venture or business partner, or technical, financial, legal
and other professional advisers engaged by the
Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

(vii) any associate (as defined under the Listing Rules) of the
directors or the substantial shareholders of the
Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity
who has, in the opinion of the Board, made
contribution to the business growth of the Company,
any of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity; or

(viii) the trustee of any trust pre-approved by the Board, the

beneficiary (or in case of discretionary trust, the

discretionary objects) of which includes any of the
abovementioned persons,

and, for the purposes of the Share Option Scheme, the
options may be granted to any company wholly owned by
one or more of the above Eligible Persons.

Maximum Number of shares available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme

At 2013 AGM, the scheme mandate limit for the Share
Option Scheme allowed the Company to issue a maximum of
33,200,000 options under the Share Option Scheme,
representing approximately 7.81% of the total number of
issued shares of the Company (i.e. 424,850,000 ordinary
shares) as at 16 June 2023 (being the expiry date of the
Share Option Scheme).

As at 16 June 2023, there were no outstanding share options
and during the period from 1 January 2023 to 16 June 2023,
there were no share options granted, exercised, cancelled
and lapsed under the Share Option Scheme. As at 16 June
2023, the maximum number of shares available for issue
under the Share Option Scheme was 29,600,000,
representing approximately 6.97% of the total number of
issued shares of the Company (i.e. 424,850,000 ordinary
shares) as at 16 June 2023.

(c)
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(d)
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The number of share options available for grant under the
scheme mandate as at 1 January 2023 and 16 June 2023 was
both 29,600,000.

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Person under the
Share Option Scheme

No option may be granted to any one Eligible Person in any
12-month period which, if exercised in full, would result in
the total number of shares already issued to such Eligible
Person under all the options previously granted to him/her
which have been exercised and, issuable to him/her under all
the options previously granted to him/her which are for the
time being subsisting and unexercised, exceeding 1% of the
share capital of the Company in issue on the last date of
such 12-month period unless being approved by the
shareholders of the Company in a general meeting.

Where any proposed grant of option to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or any of their respective associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules), would result in the shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options already granted (including
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) and to be
granted to such person in the 12-month period up to and
including the date of the proposed grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the total
number of shares in issue for the time being; and

(i)  the aggregate value of which, based on the closing
price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotation sheet on the date of the proposed
grant, is in excess of HK$5.0 million, such proposed
grant of option shall be subject to the prior approval of
the shareholders of the Company at a general meeting
in which all connected persons for the time being of
the Company (if any) (except where any connected
person intends to vote against the proposed grant of
option and his/her intention to do so has been stated
in the circular) shall abstain from voting at such general
meeting and at which any vote taken shall be taken on
a poll.
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(e)

()

(8

(h)

(i)

ARERER R A

Period for and payment on acceptance of an option

An offer for grant of an option must be accepted by an
Eligible Person (and by no other person) in respect of all the
shares for which the offer is made. Acceptance shall be made
by such Eligible Person by signing and returning the duplicate
of the offer letter together with the payment of a
consideration of HK$1.00 for such grant to the Company
within the time period specified in the offer letter.

Exercise period

The period within which the options may be exercised must
expire no later than 10 years from the relevant date of grant.

The basis of determining the subscription price

The subscription price in respect of any option granted
under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price determined
by the Board and notified to each grantee and shall not be
less than the highest of (i) the nominal value of a share; (ii)
the average of the closing prices of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date on which an
offer for grant of an option (the “New Offer Date") is made to
an Eligible Person; and (iii) the closing price of the shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheet on the
New Offer Date which must be a business day, provided that
the subscription price shall be rounded upwards to the
nearest whole cent.

Minimum period for holding an option before exercise

There is no minimum holding period for which an option
must be held before exercise pursuant to the Share Option
Scheme. The commencement date of the period during
which an option may be exercised shall be specified by the
Board in the relevant offer letter.

Remaining life

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of ten years commencing on 17 June 2013, the date
of adoption of the Share Option Scheme, unless otherwise
terminated in accordance with the rules of the Share Option
Scheme.

(e)

(f)

(8

(h)

(i)
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

During the Reporting Year, the Company maintained the Share
Option Scheme pursuant to which options may be granted, inter
alia, to the Directors.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
above, at no time during the Reporting Year was the Company, its
holding company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors or their spouses or children
under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

DIRECTOR’'S INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors (excluding Independent Non-executive
Directors) nor their respective associates had any interest in
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group for the Reporting Year.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS,
WARRANTS OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

Convertible Preference Shares

The Company issued and allotted 80,000,000 convertible
preference shares (“CPSs"), as part of the consideration for the
acquisition of ISP Business in late 2012. The CPSs may be
convertible into the ordinary shares at HK$0.75 per share subject
to satisfaction of the minimum public float requirements under the
Listing Rules. As at 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
report, none of the CPSs was converted nor redeemed.

Save as disclosed above and other than the share option scheme
described in the paragraph titled “Share Option Scheme” above,
the Company had no outstanding convertible securities, options,
warrants or similar rights at 31 December 2023. There was no
issue or exercise of any convertible securities, options, warrants or
similar rights during the Reporting Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
was entered into or existed during the Reporting Year.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participated in mandatory provident fund schemes in
Hong Kong and in the municipal government contribution scheme
in China. Particulars of the retirement schemes are set out in note
4(g)(ii) to the financial statements.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTSAND T EREN AL SR D RIBRAARND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND B ZIERRHE
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, the following person/entity (other than & ZE2023F 128318 BEFHF K HAE K
Directors or chief executive of the Company) had or were deemed  BIE 336 (A RAIEFHFEZ T ER T =
or taken to have interests or short positions in the shares and RAEZ LM ((EBREZEZM]) Aracsk
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register of  NF AL /B (KA R EERITRAHLRIN)
interests and short positions of substantial shareholders (the AR & (7 & ABRE D F %A 18 A%
“Register of Substantial Shareholders”) required to be kept by the  HiEzmsAE :

Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

Long Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the RARSIRNRIBEARMND 2 HE
Company

(@) Ordinary Shares (a) HBRRMG

Chu Yuet Wah (“Mrs. Chu") Interests of controlled corporation 225,518,633 53.08%
FRE(ZLLD R rEER (Note (i)
(B EE @)
Champ Key Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 225,518,633 53.08%
(“Champ Key") E=EA A
Notes: Pt 5T
(i) Champ Key being a company wholly-owned by Mrs. Chu is deemed to (i) RIBEF R E KA - Champ Key (B +
be a controlled corporation of Mrs. Chu under the SFO. 2EHER AR BRAFT L L 2 XEHIE
°
(ii) There were 424,850,000 ordinary shares of the Company in issue as at (if) ARABEHE2023412 A31 B 2B 3#1TE;3
31 December 2023. & A% 7 7% 424,850,000 A% °

ABEEREBERA A

It




DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFETRS

(b) Convertible Preference Shares

(b) WEBRELR

Mrs. Chu &%+ Interests of controlled 80,000,000 100%
corporation (Note (i)
REEEER (BH3E@))
Champ Key Beneficial owner 80,000,000 100%
E=EAA
Notes: BiaE -

(i) The Company issued and allotted 80,000,000 CPSs to Smart Lane
Holdings Limited (“Smart Lane"), as part of the consideration for the
acquisition of ISP Business in late 2012. As disclosed in the joint
announcement of Champ Key and the Company dated 30 November
2016, Champ Key (a company wholly-owned by Mrs. Chu) as the offeror
entered into the sale and purchase agreement with Smart Lane as the
vendor of the sale and purchase of 169,116,777 ordinary shares and
the 80,000,000 CPSs. Champ Key being a company wholly-owned by
Mrs. Chu is deemed to be a controlled corporation of Mrs. Chu under
the SFO.

(ii) There were 80,000,000 CPSs of the Company in issue as at 31
December 2023.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Directors
were not aware of any persons/entities (other than Directors or
chief executive of the Company) who/which had or were deemed
or taken to have any other interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
Register of Substantial Shareholders required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In contemplation of the ISP Works Master Agreement which
expired on 31 December 2022, the Company and Mrs. Chu
entered into the new ISP Works Master Agreement (“2023 ISP
Works Master Agreement”) on 13 December 2022 to continue the
provision of the ISP works for a term of three years commencing
from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025. The annual cap under
the 2023 ISP Works Master Agreement for each of the three years
ending 31 December 2023, 2024 and 2025 is HK$5,000,000. As
Mrs. Chu is the controlling shareholder of the Company and hence,
a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules, the
transactions contemplated under the 2023 ISP Works Master
Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and are subject
to the announcement, reporting and annual review requirements
but are exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of
the transactions are set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 13 December 2022.

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

(i) XA & A Smart Lane Holdings Limited
(['Smart Lane |) 317 & A2 % 80,000,000 A% AT
HIREERRD  ERMR2012FFRULHE
ZEREHRFRIE R B2 B HRE - Hm
Champ Key R AR & HEIA 20164 11 A 30
AZHMAERNESHEE AFLT2EHAZ
A& Champ Key (1EARZ4IA) B Smart Lane
(ERBE&E169,116,777TREBR K&
80,000,000 f% AT B AR 2 T ) ST B
B o RIBFFREE G - Champ Key
(LT 2BBBEZ2RR)BERETLL 2
REHEE -

(i) ARAREE2023F12 A31 B 2B #ITA#
18 55 R A% 1% 4 80,000,000 A% ©
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During the Reporting Year, the Company and/or its subsidiaries
had entered into the following continuing connected transactions
pursuant to the 2023 ISP Works Master Agreement which are
subject to annual review and reporting requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERS

RFEEERN ARk SEWHBRAGE
RIF2023F E AL RIFHRIEE TRB WS
RN TS BEFLETRUNEIAEZFESR
ERERRTHFBERERS

Mrs.Chu ISP Works Master The period from 1 January  Mrs. Chu and/or her associates
Agreement on 2023t0 31 December to engage the Group for
13 December 2022 2025 (both days inclusive)  providing ISP Works

Frt REBNRFNABE BABFIRIRREND FRIR/AEBEAZEAS

LERKHRRRER
TR&h

ENANALER(E  BREEARSRNRERL
fEERME) B

HK$5,000,000

715,0000007C

HK$355,000  Mrs. Chuis a substantial
shareholder and cantrolling
shareholder of the Company
and hence, a connected
person under the Listing Rules.

BE3D00T  ERLAARAZEFERRR

BRER BfALHRAT
LBEAL

The Directors (including the Independent Non-executive Directors)
have reviewed and confirmed that the continuing connected
transactions mentioned above conducted in the Reporting Year
were entered into on the following basis:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of the business of the
Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(i) according to the relevant agreements governing these
transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company's auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified letter
containing the findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group as
above in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
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In addition, the auditor of the Company has confirmed to the
Board that nothing has come to their attention that causes them
to believe that the above continuing connected transactions for
the Reporting Year:

() have not been approved by the Board;

(i) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Group where the transactions involve
the provision of services by the Group;

(i)  were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreements governing the transactions;
and

(iv) have exceeded the relevant annual caps as disclosed in the
respective previous announcements of the Company.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the
continuing connected transactions mentioned above.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate revenue attributable to the Group's five largest
customers accounted for approximately 97.6% (2022: 82.1%) of
the Group's total revenue and the revenue attributable to the
Group's largest customer accounted for approximately 31.7%
(2022: 24.0%) of the Group's total revenue for the Reporting Year.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group's five largest
suppliers were less than 40% of the Group's total purchases for
the Reporting Year (2022: less than 30%).

None of the Directors, any of their close associates, or
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital), had any
beneficial interest in the Group's five largest customers.

BANIK BORROWINGS

At 31 December 2023, the Group had no outstanding bank
borrowings (2022: Nil).

DONATIONS

The Group donated HK$59,800 (2022: HK$22,000) for charitable
and other purposes during the Reporting Year.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the
Reporting Year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions of the Group are set out in note 31 to
the financial statements. In relation to those related party
transactions that also constituted connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions of the Group as defined in the
Listing Rules, the relevant disclosure requirements in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules have been complied with.

PUBLIC FLOAT

At the date of this report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules, based on the
information that is publicly available to the Company and to the
best of knowledge of its Directors.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Reporting Year were audited by BDO Limited who has expressed
its willingness to offer itself for re-appointment at the 2024 AGM.

A resolution will be proposed to the 2024 AGM to re-appoint BDO
Limited as the auditor of the Company for the ensuring year and
to authorize the Directors to fix its remuneration.

On behalf of the Board

Kingston Chu Chun Ho
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

15 Y7 % 8% 6h ¥R &

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ISP
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the
“Group”) set out on pages 81 to 173, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2023, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as
follows:

Accounting for construction contracts — including revenue
recognition and contract assets/liabilities; and

Impairment assessment on account and other receivables,
retention receivables and contract assets.

ACCOUNTING FOR CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS
INCLUDING REVENUE RECOGNITION AND
CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES

We identified the accounting for construction contracts as a key
audit matter due to the significant judgements involved in
determining the completion status of construction works.

Refer to note 4(l), note 6(c), note 7 and note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recognised revenue
from construction contracts relating to the interiors and special projects
which totalled approximately HK$150.3 million. The contract assets
amounted to approximately HK$85.6 million (after provision for
impairment of approximately HK$0.8 million) as at 31 December 2023.

The recognition of revenue for the Group's construction contracts
is based on the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation.

Progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation is determined by reference to work performed up to the
end of the reporting period. The Group reviews and revises the
estimates of contract revenue, contract costs, variation orders as
well as the financial impact of claims, disputes and liquidation
damages prepared for each construction contract as the contract
progresses. The management’s estimate of revenue and the
completion status of construction works requires significant
judgement and has a significant impact on the amount and timing
of revenue recognised.

1% X1 % 84 6 3R &S

FAREstEIA

AREBAFEEREAMANERHE RS
HARHRAMBBRRNETRAERNER -
ELEREERMBABRBEAVBRER L
HABRRETREN HATSHELE
HIEHEBNOER -

BAERPHERIOREREAFESRAT

BRESHZETRE — BHERAW
REREE/AE Rk

Bk

FE U AR R K At FE MR - FRUR IR Bl &
REHWEBEEZRERE

RHESN 2Bt EEAERR NG
RENEE &afE

B EESON S REBNAERES
FE DHAREEREIRNTRMALS R
ERAE -

200D B BRI FEA) - B EE6(O) - K
7 RHIE18 -

HE2023F12A31BILEE - B£EEHER
REEREMMEREEBEANNEES
H 4958 # 150,300,000 7T ° 722023412 A 31
B A#&E BB 85600000 T (B K
BB #4978 85 800,000 7T) °

BEEERESHZREIREBENEE TR
SERHVEE T LARERR

BHEETRERNEE D2 EREHRA
HITHWITFETE - ESREESNBREST R
REFTEREZANNEHWE - BHKA
BERS2EAARRE FRLEORE
EZMBRE EEEHKRAERERTRER
BGIRR Y fhET A Z B AHE Y iR s S
BEREBREATE -

A

=FF®

VE




74

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
1a 37 % 84 6 3R &

Our response:

We tested the key controls on how management measure the
progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation, including controls on estimated total contract revenue
and costs, budgeted margins, progress billings and progress
payments of contracts.

Our work in relation to management'’s estimated total contract
revenue and costs, and budgeted margins focused on the
following procedures in relation to material construction contracts
within the Group:

Discussing with the Group's project managers for the status
of the projects, identifying any variations, claims and
provision on loss-making contracts, and obtaining
explanations for fluctuations in margins and the expected
recovery of variations.

Obtaining corroborative evidence, in relation to the above
points, by reviewing the project budgets, external architect's
instructions, external architect’s certificates of work
performed and minutes of management's regular internal
meetings, on a sample basis.

Inspecting signed contracts, on a sample basis, to identify the
total contract sum and terms.

Agreeing the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation to the surveyors' latest valuation
and/or external architects certificates.

Testing the calculations of contract revenue, costs, and
construction contracts assets/liabilities.

Where applicable, inspecting correspondence with the
customers and sub-contractors to obtain audit evidence on
variations from customers, claims from customers and sub-
contractors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON ACCOUNT AND
OTHER RECEIVABLES, RETENTION RECEIVABLES
AND CONTRACT ASSETS

We identified the impairment assessment on account and other
receivables, retention receivables and contract assets as a key
audit matter due to the significance of account and other
receivables, retention receivables and contract assets to the
Group's consolidated financial position and the involvement of
significant judgements and management estimates in evaluating
the impairment process.

Refer to note 4(e)(ii), note 6(b), note 18 and note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group had account and other receivables of approximately
HK$40.4 million (after provision for impairment of approximately
HK$4.6 million), retention receivables of approximately HK$46.9
million (after provision for impairment of approximately HK$0.5
million) and contract assets of approximately HK$85.6 million (after
provision for impairment of approximately HK$0.8 million) as at 31
December 2023.

Account and other receivables, retention receivables and contract
assets of the Group are mainly in relation to the Group's business
of interiors and special projects.

The recoverable amounts of account receivables, retention
receivables and contract assets are estimated by management
based on their specific recoverability assessment on individual
counterparties and collectively by using a provision matrix with
appropriate grouping with reference to the aging profile, historical
payment pattern, the past record of default, forward-looking
factors and assessment of their financial position. Management
would make specific provision against balances with reference to
the estimated recoverable amount. Management has assessed the
recoverable amount of other receivables by assessing any
significant increase in credit risk. If there has been a significant
increase in credit risk, the Group will measure the loss allowance
based on lifetime rather than 12-month ECL.

For the purpose of impairment assessment, significant judgements
and assumptions include specific recoverability assessment, the
credit risks of counterparty, the estimated timing and amount of
future cash flows for the determination of the impairment charge.
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Our response:

We performed the following procedures in relation to the
recoverability of account and other receivables, retention
receivables and contract assets:

Testing the accuracy of aging of trade receivables at year end
on a sample basis.

Obtaining lists of outstanding account and other receivables,
retention receivables and contract assets, and identifying any
counterparty with potential financial difficulty through
discussion with management.

Challenging management’s basis and judgement in
determining credit loss allowance on retention receivables
and contract assets as at 31 December 2023 through the
discussion with the management, including management's
identification of significant retention receivables and contract
assets, the reasonableness of management's grouping of the
remaining retention receivables and contract assets into
different categories in the provision matrix and the basis of
estimated loss rates applied.

Assessing the recoverability of the unsettled account and
other receivables, retention receivables and contract assets
on a sample basis through our evaluation of management's
assessment with reference to the credit profile of the
counterparties, historical payment pattern of the
counterparties, publicly available information and latest
correspondence with the counterparties and to consider if
any additional provision should be made.

Testing subsequent settlement and contract work
certification of account and other receivables, retention
receivables and contract assets respectively after the end of
reporting date on a sample basis.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the
directors in discharging their responsibilities in this regard.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor's report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among

other

signifi

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
icant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we

have

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Choi Kit Ying
Practising Certificate Number P07387

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

W A
o lERRHEHMEPANRZE
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A31ALLFE
2023 2022
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
liok=3 BT T ST T
Continuing Operations BEKEEL
Revenue W zs 7 154,715 224,923
Cost of sales and service $HE KRS KA (141,620) (202,263)
Gross profit EH 13,095 22,660
Other income and gain or loss E iU A FNi8 25 8 1,388 7,229
General and administrative expenses — MR R AT X (30,204) (31,374)
Interest expenses FERX 9 (68) (87)
Net reversal of impairment losses on JREE M5 B 50 % EL A JE WK TR
account and other receivables, retention EWRE S MNANEEZ
receivables and contract assets BB ET 18 B % RR 342 36
Loss before taxation B A5 Bl Es 18 10 (15,447) (1,536)
Taxation 1A 14 203 (164)
Loss for the year from Continuing FARBRFBELEEBTH
Operations B8 (15,244) (1,700)
Discontinued Operations ERIEER
Profit for the year from Discontinued FARBELRIEER RN
Operations 13 - 438,440
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable 2 TRERFHE AL
to equity holders of the Company FR(EER) HZF (15,244) 436,740
Other comprehensive (loss)/income: Hfh&mE (&), W :
ltems that will not be reclassified to HEg B TresmoEs
profit or lo0ss: BxwosEE
Remeasurement on long service BN ERIRGEEE
payment liabilities 25 (110) 10
ltems that may be subsequently AHESHM EEER
reclassified to profit or loss: BH :
Exchange differences on translating MEBINERELEZ
foreign operations PE X =58 (416) (2,697)
Other comprehensive loss FREM2EER
for the year (526) (2,687)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income A AFREZEAEBGER
for the year attributable to equity 2 (F8) WE8H
holders of the Company (15,770) 434,053
FBERERARQ A T — = FFR




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mOERRHMWEDNRA X

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12 A31 BILFE

2023 2022
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
HteE BET T BT T

Total comprehensive (loss)/income KA TREZHE AL
for the year attributable to equity UTHBZER
holders of the Company arises from 2 (E8) WHEHE

— Continuing Operations — BEREER (15,770) (4,387)
— Discontinued Operations — BRIEER - 438,440
(15,770) 434,053

From Continuing Operations and REFERLEELR
Discontinued Operations BRIEETR

(Loss)/earnings per share attributable 7~ 2 TG A B4

to the owners of the Company B (EE) 2R

— basic (HK cents) — ARG 16 (3.6) 87.9

— diluted (HK cents) — B OB ED) 16 (3.0) 86.5
From Continuing Operations REBELEEK

Loss per share attributable to the ARAREBAEBEERER
owners of the Company
— basic (HK cents) — EARCEEAD) 16 (3.6) (0.4)

— diluted (HK cents) — B OB R 16 (3.0) (0.3)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

in G Wl 85RO X

As at 31 December 2023
M20234 128311

2023 2022
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 BT T BT T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - M R 17 1,844 1,936
Deferred tax assets RIETHIBEEE 26 228 240
_Totalnon-currentassets ~ aBREA® 000 2072 2,176
Current assets REEE
Contract assets BREE 18 85,572 115,899
Account and other receivables and JFE LA B 5k Kz EL A R LKL R TE
retention receivables N FEWR E & 19 87,254 102,839
Deposits and prepayments Re RFERNRIEA 1,904 1,796
Financial assets at fair value through BRATFEFAERD
profit or loss (“Financial assets at cRMEE ([ERAFE
FVTPL") FFABEENESRMEE]) 20 24,497 28,653
Taxation recoverable GRS 4R 46 -
Restricted cash deposits TRHIRESFER 21 62,620 -
Pledged bank deposits BEHEARITFR 22 16,394 19,524
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEHE 22 68,241 153,427
_Totalcurrentassets ~ #ABEEA® 0000 346,528 422138
Current liabilities REBEE
Payables and accruals JENERF M ERTE R 23 160,207 222,699
Contract liabilities AHaE 18 2,200 -
Lease liabilities HEAE 24 1,086 1,053
Taxation payable FEIBEIE - 119
_Total current liabilites ~ mBRMA® 00000000 163,493 223871
Net current assets RBEEFE 183,035 198,267
Total assets less current liabilities EEAERABAEE 185,107 200,443
Non-current liabilities FkRBERE
AMERBR AR A = ey = 4= G




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
fm 8 Bl 850K &

As at 31 December 2023
M20234F12H31H

2023 2022

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000

fftat BT T BT T

Long service payment liabilities RERBEEE 25 128

Lease liabilities HERE 24 59

Deferred tax liabilities REHIBEAR 26 8 58

_Totalnon-current liabilities ~~~ ¥*nBmAfesm 00 T . 245 |

Net assets EEFRE 184,428 200,198

Equity attributable to equity holders Z&2 T REZE AEEER
of the Company

Share capital [N 27 50,486 50,486

Reserves {45 28 133,942 149,712

Total equity FEHBH 184,428 200,198

The notes on pages 87 to 173 are an integral part of these Eg87E2F 1738 2 WEFAZE G AMBHRE
consolidated financial statements. TR ERS o

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors Bi &R R &EE SR 2024F3 27 B & -

on 27 March 2024 and were signed on its behalf. THUATAIRERESE -
Kingston Chu Chun Ho Lam Chun Kit

RIEESE AR A

Chairman Non-executive Director
ES IEHITEE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

Illm

o i i &

& &

Bl %

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE2023F12A31BILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
FRREAAREREA

Retained
earnings/
Share Share Merger Exchange (accumulated Total
capital premium reserve reserve losses) Equity
REEN/
e R EE AR Eifie  (RiER) BB
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BRI BRI BRI BRI BRI
At 1 January 2023 RNBF1A18 50,486 - 1513 (Q54) 150743 200,198
Loss for the year ENEE - - - - (15,244) (15,244)
Other comprehensive loss; H2EEE:
Remeasurement on long service RERKLRRENTE
payment liabilties - - - - (110) (110)
Exchange differences on translating BEBNEHEL,
foreign operations EfEE - z z (416) = (416)
Total other comprehensive loss AbrEEBREE - - - (416) (110) (526)
Total comprehensive loss rEEREE - - - (416) (15,354) (15,770)
At 31 December 2023 R2023E12A31H 50,486 - 1,513 (2,960) 135,389 184,428
At 1 January 2022 R202F1A18 50486 185420 1513 153 (72595) 164977
Profit for the year EREMN - - 436,740 436,740
Other comprehensive income(oss): B2 Ela/ (BE):
Remeasurement on long service RARKL ARG ENTE
payment liabilties - - - - 10 10
Exchange differences on translating PERNERELZERZS
foreign operations - - - (2697) - (2697)
Total other comprenensive ossyincome 02 (618 / W&88E - - - (2697) 10 (2687)
Total comprehensive income PENGER - - - (2697) 436750 134053
Special dividends (Note 15) BRIRE (B&15) - - - (398,832) (398832)
Share premium reduction (Note) ln B EHIE (s - (185420) - - 185420 -
At 31 December 2022 RA2E128318 50486 - 1513 Q5M) 150743 200,19

Note: Pursuant to a special resolution passed by the shareholders at the special
general meeting of the Company on 7 November 2022, an amount of
HK$185,420,000 standing to the credit of the share premium account of the
Company was reduced and the credit arising therefrom be transferred to the
contributed surplus account of the Company.

The notes on pages 87 to 173 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AOHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12 A31 BILFE

2023 2022
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
it 5 BT BT T
Operating activities ReExK
Cash used in operations KeEBEFERCRE 29(a) (28,000) (19,323)
Interest received B U B 3,567 3,070
Net cash used in operating activities EEEEERACRESFH (24,433) (16,253)
Investing activities REXK
Purchase of property, plant and BEME  HBERRE
equipment (90) (188)
Proceeds from disposal of property, LEME - HRER
plant and equipment B PTSFRIE - 10
Purchase of financial assets at FVTPL BEZATEABRZ
TREE — (29,671)
Dividend derived from financial assets REZAFEFABREZ
at FVTPL TREEIBE 1,511 1,335
Disposal of subsidiaries, net of PEWBAT - Ik EHE
cash disposed of & 13 - 529,197
Placement of restricted cash deposits FHZREIR TR (62,620) -
Placement of pledged bank deposits FREEMIRITER - (19,524)
Release in pledged bank deposit fRIR B ERIRITER 3,130 -
Net cash (used in)/generated from REE£W (ER) EEx
investing activities BEFE (58,069) 481,159
Financing activities EE=E S 29(b)
Dividend paid BT E 15 - (398,832)
Repayment of principal portion and BEHAEABEZAREED
interest of the lease liabilities KA (2,158) (2,443)
Net cash used in financing activities BMEXKEAZRESFE (2,158) (401,275)
Net (decrease)/increaseincashand RERBALZHECEL),
cash equivalents Bz RE (84,660) 63,631
Cash and cash equivalents at the FUzHeRBEe%EE
beginning of the year 153,427 92,464
Fxchange loss on cash and RekReFEZELEBER
cash equivalents (526) (2,668)
Cash and cash equivalents FRZEERRAEEHE
at the end of the year 68,241 153,427

The note on pages 87 to 173 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

FYIEFIBAEAZMERZFRAVBRE

ZARKE D
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

ISP Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in
Bermuda under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda as an
exempted company on 4 August 2003. The address of its
registered office is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton, HM 11, Bermuda. The Company's shares were
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) on 9 October 2003.

The principal business of the Group is principally engaged in
the provision of ISP Business in Hong Kong and property and
facility management services in China.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of Hong Kong dollars (HK$), unless otherwise
stated, and were approved for issue by the Board on 27
March 2024.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HIKFRSs"”) AND
CHANGES IN OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Adoption of new and revised standards —
effective 1January 2023

The HKICPA has issued new and a number of amended
standards, interpretations and amendments to
standards that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the Group:

it ¥5 ¥k 2% Bf 5

— AR

SRERERAE (K2R R
2003 8 H4HIRIE 1981 FARENF)
FEBREFMRLAERE QR o T
ffft #% == B2 30 31k A Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton, HM 11,
Bermuda ° 78 2 & B& 13 7 2003 € 10 A
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Frl) £t e

AEB T EXBIEZRNETENFR
HE R MFIRIAR R LR F
HERHEMERRBEERRT

BREIAEIN RGP BERRIAE
BT TyR - WER2024F3 A27H
RESSHETIE -

RSB IRSEN (S8
Bt 55 3 5 % Bl 1) Tk B fth 8 51 Y

(a) HREMFRSTIRACIZETHEAN — R
2023 F1H1BEX

BRI AGEBMHT RS
ERAKENERN S PEEX
EEEIEETER - BB R ER
CHIE

HKFRS 17 (including the October 2020 and
February 2022 amendments to HKFRS 17) S
BV REERFE 1757 (B1F2020F 10 A &
2022F 2 RERI 2 B AM B M EERIE175%)

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2
BERGEIERE 15 BB ISR EER
ERRNEZE 2% (EET)

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

SERTBRN KR

Amendments to HKAS 8
BB FTERIZE 89 (IB5])

Definition of Accounting Estimates

BitfatES

Amendments to HKAS 12
BB EFTERIE 1257 (1BET)

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction
HE-RHGEAMNEENBERBNELENIE

Amendments to HKAS 12
BB EAE 125 (BFT)

International Tax Reform-Pillar Two Model Rules

BIR RIS E — 6 — AR E

A
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fif 5 ¥ % Bff 5

The new and amended standards that are effective
from 1 January 2023 did not have any material impact
on the Group's accounting policies.

Except as described below, the adoption of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs does not have any
significant impact on the Group's financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years.

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 — Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement
2 require entities to disclose their material accounting
policy information rather than their significant
accounting policies. Accounting policy information is
material if, when considered together with other
information included in an entity’s financial statements,
it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making
Materiality Judgements” provide non-mandatory
guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality to
accounting policy disclosures.

The application of the amendments has had no
material impact on the Group's financial positions and
performance but has affected the disclosure of the
Group's accounting policies set in Note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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(b)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Change in accounting policy

New HKICPA guidance on the accounting
implications of the abolition of the mandatory
provident fund (“MPF”) — long service payment
(“LSP") offsetting mechanism

In June 2022, the Hong Kong SAR Government (the
“Government”) gazetted the Hong Kong Employment
and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting
Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the
“Amendment Ordinance”), which will come into effect
from 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date"). Once the
Amendment Ordinance takes effect, an employer can
no longer use any of the accrued benefits derived from
its mandatory contributions to MPF scheme to reduce
the LSP in respect of an employee’s service from the
Transition Date (the abolition of the “offsetting
mechanism”). In addition, the LSP in respect of the
service before the Transition Date will be calculated
based on the employee’'s monthly salary immediately
before the Transition Date and the years of service up
to that date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong" that provides accounting
guidance relating to the offsetting mechanism and the
abolition of the mechanism.

The Group has considered the accrued benefits derived
from mandatory MPF contributions that are expected
to be used to reduce the LSP payable to an employee
as deemed contributions by that employee towards the
LSP. Historically, the Group accounted fro the offsetting
mechanism by applying the practical expedient in HKAS
19.93(b). Based on the HKICPA guidance, upon the
enactment of the Amendment Ordinance in June 2022,
these deemed contributions should be attributed to
periods of service in the same manner as the gross LSP
benefit applying HKAS 19.93(a).

The Group has changed its accounting policy in
connection with its LSP liabilities and has applied
HKICPA guidance retrospectively. There is no material
impact on the Group's results and financial position for
the current or prior periods.

(b)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(c)

P’S BRIEICIAD THREISERIST Vi R

Amendments to HIKFRSs issued but not yet
effective

The following revised standards, potentially relevant to
the Group's consolidated financial statements, have

(c) EfhBibREN 2z EBITE
RS ZEAFNEZET
ATEANEEES T HRRE
M2 REIBEMBHREER

been issued, but are not yet effective for the current B&E M BR AP EREEE R

financial year. The Group's current intention is to apply
these changes on the date they become effective.
These standards are not expected to have a material
impact on the Group in the current or future reporting

periods and on foreseeable future transactions.

ER - AEBB A ERZEFE
AIERAHERZEES - %F
HAFEH TG H A REHHAR
KRS MM 2 NGB &R R AR
MR PERERTE -

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

BBV BRELERE 109 (BE]) REB L%
Bl %5 28 5% (123])

Sales or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture?

REFHREBENRNAECECHANEELE
FgEE3

Amendments to HKFRS 16
BT EHRELERE 1698 IBF])

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback’
ERMERZHERE"

Amendments to HKAS 1
BB GETERFE 15 (BRT)

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current!

BEIBERARBAIERE

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised)
BARRBESH (KER])

Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause'

MBBRRZ 25 — ERABHBREREEBRX
BE B E R DIE

Amendments to HKAS 1
BEBGETERE 15 (BRT)

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants'

iR 2 EmE BME

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7
BB EFTERIE 75 R BB R ELERFE 75
(1&3T)

Supplier Finance Arrangements'

HEERE G

Amendments to HKAS 21
BB ERIZE 215 (BEF])

Lack of Exchangeability?
R Z A A2

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 1

M2024%1 A1 BRBARZRARZ

2024. FEABAER -

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2 K202551 A1 BRBZERBZ
2025. FREBMENR -

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be 3 REETHHRBIZERBZE
determined. R AR -
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3.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to as
the “HKFRSs") and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost basis, except for
certain financial instruments that are measured at fair
values, at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process
of applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity
or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in note 6.

Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company. All values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out as
below.

(a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Group. Inter-company
transactions and balances between group companies
together with unrealised profits are eliminated in full in
preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of impairment on the
asset transferred, in which case the loss is recognised
in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the effective dates of acquisition or up to
the effective dates of disposal, as appropriate. Where
necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with those used by other members of
the Group.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the gain
or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interest. Amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for in the
same manner as would be required if the relevant
assets or liabilities were disposed of.
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(b)

(c)

(d)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is
able to exercise control. The Company controls an
investee if all three of the following elements are
present: power over the investee, exposure, or rights,
to variable returns from the investee, and the ability to
use its power to affect those variable returns. Control is
reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate
that there may be a change in any of these elements of
control.

In the Company's statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision maker. The chief operating
decision maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments and making strategic decisions.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in each asset's carrying
amount only when it is probable that there is future
economic benefit to the Group and the cost of the item
can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

(b)

(c)

(d)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(e)

P’S BRIEICIAD THREISERIST Vi R

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method based on
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Leasehold improvements
Motor vehicles
Furniture and equipment

Over the lease period
25%-33% per annum
10%-50% per annum

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period. An assets’ carrying amount is
written down immediately to its recoverable amount if
the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount (Note 4(h)).

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property,
plant and equipment is the difference between the net
sale proceeds and its carrying amount, and is
recognised in profit or loss on disposal.

Financial Instruments
(i) Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is an account receivable
without a significant financing component) is
initially measured at fair value plus, for an item
not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to
its acquisition or issue. An account receivable
without a significant financing component is
initially measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirely when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are two
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and
interest are measured at amortised cost. Financial
assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest rate
method. Interest income, foreign exchange gains
and losses and impairment are recognised in
profit or loss. Any gain on derecognition is
recognised in profit or loss.

Fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"): Financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading, financial assets
designated upon initial recognition at fair value
through profit or loss, or financial assets
mandatorily required to be measured at fair
value. Financial assets are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of
selling or repurchasing in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading
unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not solely payments of principal and interest
are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments
to be classified at amortised cost or at fair value
through other comprehensive income, debt
instruments may be designated at fair value
through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing
so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an
accounting mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fit ¥5 ¥R 2% Bff 5

(ii)

P’S BRIEICIAD THREISERIST Vi R

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that
is not held for trading, the Group could
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in the investment’'s fair value in other
comprehensive income. This election is made on
an investment-by-investment basis. Equity
investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income are measured at fair
value. Dividend income are recognised in profit or
loss unless the dividend income clearly
represents a recovery of part of the cost of the
investments. Other net gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
are not reclassified to profit or loss. All other
equity instruments are classified as FVTPL,
whereby changes in fair value, dividends and
interest income are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment loss on financial assets, retention
receivables and contract assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for
expected credit loss (“ECL") on account and other
receivables, retention receivables and contract
assets, and financial assets measured at
amortised cost. The ECLs are measured on either
of the following bases: (1) 12 months ECLs: these
are the ECLs that result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the reporting
date: and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that
result from all possible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument. The
maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over
which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive. The shortfall is then
discounted at an approximation to the assets’
original effective interest rate.

(ii)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result
from all possible default events over the expected
life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime
ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessments are done based on
the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group has elected to measure loss
allowances for account receivables, retention
receivables and contract assets using HKFRS 9
simplified approach and has calculated ECLs
based on lifetime ECLs. In addition to individual
assessment, the Group has also established a
provision matrix that is based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors
and the economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are
based on the 12-month ECLs. However, when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since origination, the allowance will be based on
the lifetime ECLs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Significant increase in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition and when estimating ECL, the
Group considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information analysis,
based on the Group's historical experience and
informed credit assessment and including
forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly if it is
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increase significantly since initial recognition if the
debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if i) it has a low
risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in
the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Credit-impaired financial assets

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-
impaired when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to pay
its credit obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as realising
security (if any is held); or (2) the financial asset is
more than 90 days past due.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial
assets is calculated based on the amortised cost
(i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss allowance)
of the financial asset. For non credit-impaired
financial assets, interest income is calculated
based on the gross carrying amount.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting
an event of default for internal credit risk
management purposes as historical experience
indicates that account and other receivables that
meet either of the following criteria are generally
not recoverable:

when there is a breach of financial
covenants by the debtor; or

information developed internally or
obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

The Group considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past
due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group's recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised
in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information as described above. As for
the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is
represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount
at the reporting date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at the original
effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for
a financial instrument at an amount equal to
lifetime ECL in the previous reporting period, but
determines at the current reporting date that the
conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the
Group measures the loss allowance at an amount
equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting
date, except for assets for which simplified
approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account.
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(iii)

(iv)

(v)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities as at
FVTPL when the financial liability is (i) contingent
consideration for an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 applies, (i) held for
trading or (iii) it is designated as at FVTPL.
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss are initially measured at fair value and
financial liabilities at amortised costs are initially
measured at fair value, net of directly attributable
costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including
account and other payables are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method. The related interest expense is
recognised in profit or loss.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
or payments through the expected life of the
financial asset or liability, or where appropriate, a
shorter period.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when
the contractual rights to the future cash flows in
relation to the financial asset expire or when the
financial asset has been transferred and the
transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in
accordance with HKFRS 9.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss
when financial liabilities are derecognised once
the obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

(iii)

(iv)

(v)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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() Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

P’S BRIEICIAD THREISERIST Vi R

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. It is the Group's policy to forfeit any
untaken annual leave with a specific time period.
Subject to regular assessment of staff turnover
rate, a provision will be made or reversed.
Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave. A
provision is made for the estimated liability up to
the end of reporting date.

Retirement contribution benefit plans

The Group participates in mandatory provident
fund schemes in Hong Kong which are defined
contribution plan generally funded through
payments to trustee — administered funds. The
assets of the schemes is held separately from
those of the Group in independently administered
funds. Payments to defined contribution
retirement benefit plans are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the
government in the People’s Republic of China
("PRC"), the subsidiaries in PRC participates in the
municipal government contribution scheme
whereby the subsidiaries are required to
contribute to the scheme for the retirement
benefit of eligible employees. The municipal
government of the PRC is responsible for the
entire benefit obligations payable to the retired
employees. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the scheme is to pay the ongoing
contributions required by the scheme. The
Group’s contributions to the scheme are
expensed as incurred.
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(iii)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Retirement benefit cost

For defined benefit retirement benefit plans
including the LSP under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance, the cost of providing
benefits is determined using the projected unit
credit method, with actuarial valuations being
carried out at the end of each annual reporting
period. In determining the present value of the
Group's defined benefit obligations and the
related current service cost and, where applicable,
past service cost, the Group attributes benefit to
periods of service under the plan’s benefit
formula. However, if an employee’s service in later
years will lead to a materially higher level of
benefit than earlier years, the Group attributes
the benefit on a straight-line basis from:

(@) The date when service by the employee first
leads to benefits under the plan (whether or
not the benefits are conditional on further
service) until

(b) the date when further service by the
employee will lead to no material amount of
further benefits under the plan other than
from further salary increases.

Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains and
losses, the effect of the changes to the asset ceiling (if
applicable) and the return on plan assets (excluding
interest), is reflected immediately in the consolidated
statement of financial position with a charge or credit
recognised in other comprehensive income in the
period in which they occur. Remeasurement
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reflected immediately in retained earnings and will
not be reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fit ¥5 ¥R 2% Bff 5

(9)

P’S BRIEICIAD THREISERIST Vi R

Foreign currency

Transactions entered into by the group entities in
currencies other than the currency of the primary
economic environment in which it/they operate(s) (the
“functional currency”) are recorded at the rates ruling
when the transactions occur. Foreign currency
monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the
rates ruling at the end of reporting period. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair
value are included in profit or loss for the period except
for differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items in respect of which gains and losses
are recognised in other comprehensive income, in
which case, the exchange differences are also
recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group at the average exchange rates
for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the rates
approximating to those ruling when the transactions
took place are used. All assets and liabilities of foreign
operations are translated at the rate ruling at the end
of reporting period. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity as exchange reserve. Exchange
differences recognised in profit or loss of group entities’
separate financial statements on the translation of
long-term monetary items forming part of the Group’s
net investment in the foreign operation concerned are
reclassified to other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity as exchange reserve.

(9)
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(h)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
exchange differences recognised in the exchange
reserve relating to that operation up to the date of
disposal are reclassified to profit or loss as part of the
profit or loss on disposal.

Impairment of assets (other than financial assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of the following assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss or an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists
or may have decreased:

property, plant and equipment; and
investments in subsidiaries

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount under another HKFRSs, in which case
the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease under that HKFRSs.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount under another
HKFRSs, in which case the reversal of the impairment
loss is treated as a revaluation increase under that
HKFRSs.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash
flows expected to be derived from the asset or cash
generating unit, discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset or cash generating unit.

(h)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(i)

)

P’S BRIEICIAD THREISERIST Vi R

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, which it is probable will result in an outflow of
economic benefits that can be reliably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, the
existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Current and deferred income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of reporting date in the countries where the
Group's entities operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates tax related
situations and establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be
paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred income tax is not accounted for if it
arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates and laws that have been
enacted or substantially enacted by the end of
reporting date and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax asset is recognised to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.
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(R)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries
except where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the
balances on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In
this case, the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Lease
The Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group
recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.

Right-of-use asset

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the
commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date which
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for
any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-
of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use
assets are also subject to impairment. The Right-of-use
assets are depreciated on straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

(R)
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P’S BRIEICIAD THREISERIST Vi R

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fif 5 ¥ % Bff 5

Lease liability

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain
to be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate
the lease. The variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as an
expense in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if
there is a modification (i.e. a change in the lease term, a
change in lease payments (e.g. a change to future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase
the underlying asset).

HEASE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Revenue and income recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sale of goods and
services in the ordinary course of the Group's activities.
Revenue is shown net of returns and discounts and
after eliminating sales within the Group.

Revenue are recognised when or as the control of the
services or goods is transferred to the purchaser.
Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the services or
goods may transfer over time or at a point in time.
Control of the services or goods is transferred over
time if the Group's performance:

provides all the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the purchaser; or

Creates or enhances an asset that the purchaser
controls as the Group performs; or

do not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If control of the services or goods transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
purchaser obtains control of the asset.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on output
method that best depict the Group's performance in
satisfying the performance obligation. The output
method is made reference to the gross value of
contracting work to date as compared to the total
contract sum receivable under the contracts.

An entity is a principal if it controls the promised good
or service before transferring it to the customer. An
entity is an agent if its role is to arrange for another
entity to provide the good or service.
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In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts
the promised amount of consideration for the effect of
a financing component if it is significant.

Provision of services of property and facility
management business

Property and facility management fees and other
supporting service fees are recognised when the
services are rendered and in accordance with the
terms of agreements. There are two types of
agreement, namely management remuneration
contracts (“MR Contracts”) and lump sum contracts (“LS
Contracts”). Under a MR Contract, the Group is
remunerated based on a fixed percentage of the costs
involved in the management of the property or facility,
and only such fee is recognised as the Group's revenue.
Under a LS Contract, the Group is paid a lump sum fee
which normally covers the costs involved, thus the
whole of lump sum fee is recognised as the Group's
revenue. The Group satisfies the performance
obligation over time for both MR Contracts and LS
Contracts and therefore, recognises revenue over time
in accordance with input method for measuring
progress.

Provision of construction services in interiors and
special projects business

Under HKFRS 15, revenue from construction contracts
is recognised when or as the construction projects are
transferred to the customer. The control of the
construction projects transfer over time in accordance
with the terms of the contracts and the laws that are
applicable to the contracts. If construction projects
create or enhance an asset that the customer controls
as the asset is created or enhanced, the Group satisfies
the performance obligation over time and therefore,
recognises revenue over time in accordance with the
output method for measuring progress.

Where the outcome of a construction contract can be
estimated reliably, revenue is recognised by applying
the stage-of-completion method of individual contract
using output method with reference to the certificates
issued by the customers, measured based on the value
of work performed to date to the contract value.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The excess of cumulative revenue recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income over the cumulative billings to
customers is recognised as contract assets. The excess
of cumulative billings to customers over the cumulative
revenue recognised in consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income is recognised
as contract liabilities.

Variable consideration

For the consideration promised in a contract includes a
variable amount (i.e. variation order), the Group
estimates the amount of consideration to which the
Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
promised services to a customer.

The Group estimates an amount of variable
consideration by using either the expected value
method or the most likely amount method, depending
on which method the Group expects to better predict
the amount of consideration to which it will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is
included in the transaction price only to the extent that
it is highly probable that such an inclusion will not result
in a significant revenue reversal in the future when the
uncertainty associated with the variable consideration
is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates
the estimated transaction price (including updating its
assessment of whether an estimate of variable
consideration is constrained) to represent faithfully the
circumstances during the reporting period.
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(m)

P’S BRIEICIAD THREISERIST Vi R

Contract assets and liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for services that the Group
has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to
transfer services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

Contract asset is recognised when (i) the Group
completes the construction works under such services
contracts but yet certified by architects, surveyors or
other representatives appointed by customers, or (ii)
the customers retain retention money to secure the
due performance of the contracts. Any amount
previously recognised as a contract asset is reclassified
to account receivables at the point at which it is
invoiced to the customer. If the considerations
(including advances received from customers) exceeds
the revenue recognised to date under the output
method then the Group recognises a contract liability
for the difference.

Related parties

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s
family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is @ member of key management personnel
of the Group or the Company’s parent.

(m)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(viif)

The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of the employees of the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
key management personnel of the entity (or
of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the group or to the
group’s parent.

(b)

fif ¥5 ¥R 2% Bff 5

EEATMERBRERT
EREAEEARHE

(i)

(i)

(ii)

(iv)

(viif)

ERRAKERRF—

SEZKE (AI&EER

T B I8 2~ =) e [R) B
REHEIRBRE) °

i)
i

SN N

:

\
!
> ik

Il o
8l 30

=
S
m 5

[N

e
e

@
30
5
3 e o> |

I
el iy
£ 5
i)
i
I
4l

N
I

S
)
el

o 3
i

> w8
5

o

el

|

W

i

i

[1]
)
of 58

= B

g
o> mi
i}

¥ 5y

2w
H

m g
|

ot
\
’
i
N

151)
i

e

TN

I 3
Doy

2

B
[

S5 A oA
o e
838

"
B o

=

B W0 o

= BB X (a) AT Al A
TSR ES

R (@)(0) Fr s Bl E B 88
BEAFENAL  HE
ER(HERBNEAR)
TEEHEAER -
B EBRIOH
SENEAKE AT
HEEXKEE QA
REITZEEEAS
AR

=

=FF®




114

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fit ¥5 ¥R 2% Bff 5

(n)

(o)

P’S BRIEICIAD THREISERIST Vi R

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their
dealings with the entity and include:

()  that person’s children and spouse or
domestic partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(i) dependents of that person or that person’s
spouse or domestic partner.

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement
of financial position comprise cash at banks and on
hand and short-term deposits with original maturity of
three months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of bank
balances and cash as defined above.

Deposit with a maturity over three months that are not
readily convertible into known amounts of cash are
defined as deposit with a bank in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Dividend distribution

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend
declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer
at the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of
the reporting period but not distributed at the end of
the reporting period.

(n)

(o)
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(P)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the
Group's business, the operations and cash flows of
which can be clearly distinguished from the rest of the
Group and which represents a separate major line of
business or geographical area of operations, or is a
part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a
separate major line of business or geographical area of
operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with
a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon
disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be
classified as held for sale, if earlier. It also occurs if the
operation is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a
single amount is presented on the face of the
statement of profit or loss, which comprises the post-
tax profit or loss of the discontinued operation and
post-tax gain or loss recognised on the measurement
to fair value less costs to sell, or on the disposal, of the
assets or disposal group constituting the discontinued
operation.

(P)
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5.1 Financial risk factors 51 HHFEREBRRZR
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2023 2022
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Financial assets EEMEE
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Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's financial instruments include account and
other receivables, financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, deposits, bank balances, accounts
payable, other payables and lease liabilities. Details of
the financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include credit risk, market risks (currency
risk and interest rate risk) and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

(@) Market risk
(i)  Foreign currency exchange risk

The Group mainly operated in Hong Kong
with most of the transactions settled in
functional currency Hong Kong dollar ("HK$")
while most of the Group's operations are
transacted in the functional currency of
the respective group entities, the Group
undertakes certain transactions denominated
in foreign currencies. At the end of the
reporting period, certain bank balances,
account and other receivables, trade payables
and other payables of the Group are
denominated in foreign currencies. The Group
manages its foreign currency risk by
performing regular reviews of the Group's net
foreign exchange exposure.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the
carrying amounts of the Group’s major

Bt ¥5 3R & Bf X

REBEIR - REE LA
HEASEERINES

monetary assets and monetary liabilities AN BEGFEZ
denominated in currency other than the FTEEBEERER
functional currency of the relevant group BEZEEELDT :

entities are as follows:

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Assets BE
Renminbi ("RMB") ARBETARED 23,688 24,123
Liabilities =N
RMB AR¥E 2,912 2,836
Sensitivity analysis BRE DT
The following table details the Group’s TRFINAEEHRE
sensitivity to a 5% increase or decrease in 20235 % 2022412
HK$ against the RMB for the years ended 31 R31BIEEEHEE
December 2023 and 2022. 5% (2022: 5%) is A AREAESE

the sensitivity rate used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents
management’'s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items, and adjusts
their translation at the end of the reporting
period for a 5% (2022: 5%) change in foreign
currency rates.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(ii)

P’S BRIEICIAD THREISERIST Vi R

A positive number below indicates a
decrease in post-tax loss where the
respective functional currencies of the
reporting entity strengthening 5% (2022:
5%) against the relevant foreign currencies.
For a 5% (2022: 5%) weakening of the
respective functional currencies against the
relevant foreign currencies, there would be
an equal and opposite impact on the loss,
and the balances below would be positive.

Profit or loss B
RMB AR

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT

867 888

BT

ULWTEHERTIREE
BEEMIEEE R
MEBHEBABESY
(20224 : 5%) &
g EE - ME a8
REEE MA@
B2 1E5% (2022 & :
5%) 1§ ¥ BT R E A F
ERBERHTE LT
EHRERBIEH -

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest
rate risk in relation to fixed-rate lease
liabilities. The Group is also exposed to cash
flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-
rate restricted cash deposits, pledged bank
deposits and bank balances. The Group's
cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of interest
rates on restricted cash deposits, pledged
bank deposits and bank balances.

The directors of the Company consider that
the overall interest rate risk is not significant
as the fluctuation of the interest rates on
pledged bank deposits and bank balances is
minimal. Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis
is prepared and presented.

(ii)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Credit risk

The Group has no significant concentration of
customer credit risk, with exposure spread over a
number of debtors. The Group's credit risk mainly
arises from deposits, cash and bank balances,
account and other receivables, retention
receivables and contract assets. Current policies
ensure that sales and services are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history and
subject to periodic credit evaluations. Collection
of outstanding account and other receivables and
retention receivables is closely monitored on an
ongoing basis.

The Group's concentration of customer credit risk
by geographical locations is mainly in Hong Kong
which accounted for 98% (2022: 97%) of the total
account receivables as at 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, a provision of approximately
HK$4,648,000 (2022: HK$5,403,000), approximately
HK$489,000 (2022: HK$220,000) and approximately
HK$793,000 (2022: HK$649,000) against account and
other receivables, retention receivables and contract
assets respectively based on the impairment
assessment.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the directors
of the Company are responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. Certain customers have exceeded their
respective credit terms during the reporting.
However, management does not expect any
significant losses from non-performance by these
counterparties because of their satisfactory
repayment history.

For account receivables, retention receivables
and contract assets, the Group has applied the
simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the
loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group
determines the ECL collectively by using a
provision matrix, estimated based on historical
credit loss experience, as well as the general
economic conditions of the industry in which the
debtors operate.

(b)
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For other non-trade related receivables, the
Group has assessed whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If there has been a significant
increase in credit risk, the Group will measure the
loss allowance based on lifetime rather than
12-month ECL.

The credit risk associated with deposits and cash
and bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are bank with high credit rating.

The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of asset and whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
on an ongoing basis throughout the reporting
period. To assess whether there is a significant
increase in credit risk the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the
reporting date with the risk of default as at the
date of initial recognition. It considers available
reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking
information. Especially the following indicators are
incorporated:

— internal and external credit rating

— actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a
significant change to the borrower’s ability
to meet its obligations

— actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the borrower

— significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the
borrower, including changes in the payment
status of borrowers in the Group and
changes in the operating results of the
borrower
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rEEZSE R

TRALAEEZEREE
REHEBENEEERUR
REBEMfERNRAEER

The Group’s exposure to credit risk

The tables below detail the credit quality of the
Group's financial assets, retention receivables and
contract assets as well as the Group’s maximum

exposure to credit risk. % o
Gross Accumulated Net
carrying Loss carrying
31 December 2023 Notes 12-month or lifetime ECL amount allowance amount
2023%12A31R1 Mz 128AR2HEHEEEE RHAE ZSEERE REFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETR BET T
Account receivables (a) Lifetime ECL (Simplified approach) 34,317 (1,804) 32,513
JE U BR 3 2HEHEEHE (BLHE)
Restricted cash deposits 12-month ECL 62,620 - 62,620
XBRHIFEER REAEREERE
Pledged bank deposits 12-month ECL 16,394 - 16,394
BEFBRITER NEAEBEESE
Cash and cash equivalents 12-month ECL 68,241 - 68,241
BeRkBe5E REABHEEEE
Other receivables (c) 12-month ECL 10,703 (2,844) 7,859
H & A REAEBREERE
Deposits (c) 12-month ECL 1,313 - 1,313
g NEAEBEESE
193,588 (4,648) 188,940
Contract assets (d)  Lifetime ECL (Simplified approach) 86,365 (793) 85,572
BHEE SHBHEESHE (B(AE)
Retention receivables (b)  Lifetime ECL (Simplified approach) 47,371 (489) 46,882
FEKRES 2HEHEEHE (BLHE)
a = i) = s G
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Gross  Accumulated Net
carrying Loss carrying
31 December 2022 Notes 12-month or lifetime ECL amount allowance amount
20229128318 fifiz 2EA%ZHESEEEE BHAE REERE REFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT BETT
Account receivables () Lifetime ECL (Simplified approach) 40,454 (2,422) 38,032
JE U ER 3R SHEREESE (B(AE)
Pledged bank deposits 12-month ECL 19,524 - 19,524
BEARTER NEAEHEERE
Cash and cash equivalents 12-month ECL 153,427 - 153,427
BeRkHe%E REABHEEBE
Other receivables (c) 12-month ECL 11,460 (2,981) 8,479
HibEWsIE REAEBREEBE
Deposits (¢) 12-month ECL 1,367 - 1,367
e NEAEHEERE
226,232 (5,403) 220,829
Contract assets (d) Lifetime ECL (Simplified approach) 116,548 (649) 115,899
BHEE SHBHEESE (B(AE)
Retention receivables (b)  Lifetime ECL (Simplified approach) 56,548 (220 56,328
FEKRES 2HBEHEEHE (BLAE)
Notes: MisE -
(@) For account receivables, the Group has applied the @) MEWEZmS  AEEE
simplified approach to measure the loss allowance at BEL it e mBHE

lifetime ECL. The Group determines the expected credit
losses by using individual assessment and provision
matrix, grouped based on share credit risk
characteristics and the days past due.

EERBER THBRES -
AN S B 65 PR B RT i K A
BENETEREERHRE
REAREERARSHB LR
HIEBUETT A
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The loss allowances for account receivables as at 31
December 2023 and 2022 were determined as follows:

Bt ¥5 3R & Bf X

2023 4F % 2022412 A 31
B BURERHNEEREE

EWT :
1to 31to 61to 91to Over
30days [ALE 90days  180days  180days
31 December 2023 20235128318 1230 31Z60A 612908 9121808  180AML
Gross carrying amount (HK$000) BRAk (58T 2,569 W 2,997 - 880 27430 34317
Less: Individualy assessed (HK$000) 35, : ERIGFE (BB Fr) - - - - - (833) (833)
Carrying amount under collective AR ET RAE (AR TT)
measurement (HK$000) 2,569 M 2,997 - 880 26,597 33,484
Expected credit loss rate (%) EEREBREM) - - - 1.96% 3.20% 3.55%
ECL allowance for collectively R ez BHEEERRE
measurement (HK$000) (%) - - - - 28 943 971
Individually assessed loss alowance BRI EEBERB (BETT)
(HK$000) - - - - - 833 833
Total loss allowance (HK$000) ERRERE(EETL) - - - - 8 1,776 1,804
Not Tto 3110 61to 9110 Qver
yet due 30days 60 days 90 days 180 days 180 days Total
31 December 2022 225128318 WABS 1230R 312608 612908 912180  180RMLE &t
Gross carrying amount (HK$000) EEEE(EETL) 9465 1577 - 516 3668 25028 40454
Less: Individually assessed (HKS000) %+ (RIS (A% T TT) - - - - - (833) (833)
Carrying amount under collective AR ET REE(EETT)
measurement (HK$000) 9,465 1577 - 516 3668 24395 39,621
Expected credit loss rate (%) EEEEFRE®Y) - 0.50% 1.00% 150% 300% 6.00%
ECL allowance for collectively AR 2 RERERARE
measurement (HK$000) (B%F1) - 8 - 8 10 1463 1,589
Indivicually assessed loss allowance [ERFRERRE (B TT)
(HK$000) - - - - - 833 833
Total loss allowance (HK$1000) BERRARE(EETL) - 8 - 8 10 22% 242
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For retention receivables, the Group has applied the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9 to measure
the allowance for credit losses at lifetime ECL. The
retention receivables is assessed for ECL by individual
assessment and using provision matrix. The allowance
for ECL on retention receivables of HK$489,000 (2022:
HK$220,000) is recognised as at 31 December 2023.

For other receivables and deposits, the Group has
assessed these balances using 12-month ECL basis as
there was no significant increase in credit risk for these
balances since initial recognition. Other than impairment
on individual assessment of HK$2,844,000 (2022:
HK$2,981,000) of other receivables, the directors of the
Company consider that the allowance for ECL for the
year ended 31 December 2022 and 2023 on other
receivables and deposits are insignificant to the Group.

For contract assets, the Group has applied the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9 to measure the
allowance for credit losses at lifetime ECL. The contract
assets are assessed for ECL by individual assessment
and using provision matrix. The allowance for ECL on
contract assets of HK$793,000 (2022: HK$649,000) is
recognised as at 31 December 2023.

(c) Liquidity risk

The

Group adopts prudent liquidity risk

management which includes maintaining
sufficient bank balances and cash, and having
available funding through an adequate amount of
committed credit facilities.

Since last year end, there have been no changes
in the risk management department or in any risk
management policies.
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B 7% ¥R 2% Bfd 5%
Financial risk factors B m B ] &
Liquidity risk (in HK$'000) nBE TR (E%TIT)

Total
Between  Between contractual
Less than 1and2 2and5 undiscounted  Carrying

1year years years  cash flow amount
N¥ NE REREH
At 31 December 2023 R2023%125318 A -EWE WMELF REREAE BREE
Continuing Operations BERELY
Lease liabilities HEAR 1125 375 50 1,550 1,501
Payables and accruals EREFLENER 117,740 3,301 39,166 160,207 160,207
Total &t 118,865 3,676 39,216 161,757 161,708
Total
Between Between  contractual
Less than Tand2 2and5 undiscounted Carrying
1 year years years cash flow amount
N N ARRAH
At31 December 2022 R202%12A318 SR-F  -EMF  WELF HERELR REE
Continuing Operations RERERH
Lease liabilities HERR 1072 59 - 1,131 1112
Payables and accruals MR ER 171,394 4,650 46,655 222,699 222,699
Total @zt 172,466 4709 46,655 223830 223811
Al — T =EFR
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5.2 Capital risk management

53

P’S BRIEICIAD THREISERIST Vi R

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balances. The
Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior
year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net of
bank balances and cash disclosed in Note 22, and
equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital
structure periodically. As part of the review, the
directors of the Company consider the cost of capital
and the risks associated with each class of capital.
Based on the recommendations of the directors of the
Company, the Group will balance its overall capital
structure through the payment of dividends, new share
issues, issue of new debts or the redemption of existing
debt.

Fair value estimation

Other than those as disclosed in Note 20, the carrying
amounts of the Group's current assets and liabilities
approximate their fair values due to their short term
maturities as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

5.2

53
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
IKEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

(a)

(b)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management determines the estimated useful lives and
related depreciation and amortisation charges for its
property, plant and equipment. Such estimate is based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of
property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions.

Impairment of account and other receivables,
deposits, retention receivables and contract
assets

Management determines the specific provision for
impairment of account receivables, retention
receivables and contract assets based on assessment
of the recoverability of the balances. The assessment is
based on the specific recoverability assessment on
individual counterparties and collectively by using a
provision matrix with appropriate grouping with
reference to ageing profile, historical payment pattern,
the past record of default, forward-looking factors and
assessment of their financial position. Management
determines the specific provision for impairment of
other receivables and deposits by assessing any
significant increase in credit risk. The specific
recoverability assessment, credit risks of counterparty,
the estimated timing and amount of future cash flows
requires the use of judgements and estimates.
Management would make specific provision against
balances with reference to the estimated recoverable
amount.

6.
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(c)

P’S BRIEICIAD THREISERIST Vi R

The Group has set out policies to ensure follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue account and other
receivables, deposits and retention receivables. As at
31 December 2023, the Group has made impairment
provision of account and other receivables, retention
receivables and contract assets approximately
HK$4,648,000, HK$489,000 and HK$793,000
respectively. The Group has been negotiating with the
counterparties for the payment of settlement. The
determination of the provision involved significant
management estimation.

Construction contracts

The Group recognises the revenue from provision of
construction services in interiors and special projects
business over time based on output method by directly
measuring the value of construction work transferred
to the customer to date relative to the remaining
construction works promised to be completed under
the construction contract. Most construction works
take 1 to 3 years to complete and the scope of work
may change during the construction period. The Group
reviews and revises the estimates of contract revenue,
contract costs, variation orders as well as the financial
impact of claims, disputes and liquidation damages
prepared for each construction contract as the contract
progresses. The management'’s estimate of revenue
and the completion status of construction works
requires significant judgement and has a significant
impact on the amount and timing of revenue
recognised. The construction works performed by the
Group would be certified by the quantity surveyors of
the customers or payment applications from the in-
house surveyors periodically according to the
construction contracts. The Group regularly reviews
and revises the estimation of contract revenue
prepared for each construction contract as the contract
progresses based on the construction progress and
the certification issued by the customers.

(c)
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As at 31 December 2023, the Group had certain claims
over its account receivables, retention receivables and
contract assets in respect of disputes or prolonged
negotiation between the Group and the employers in
certain building construction contracts. The Group is
closely monitoring the development of these contracts
and has been negotiating with the employer. The
directors of the Company are of the view that the
carrying value of the balances as at 31 December 2023
would be fully recoverable. The determination of the
recoverability involved significant management
estimation.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

In accordance with the Group's internal financial reporting
provided to the chief operating decision-makers, identified as
the Executive Committee of the Company, who is responsible
for allocating resources, assessing performance of the
operating segments and making strategic decisions, the
reportable operating segments and their results are as
below:

interiors and special projects business (“ISP Business");
and

property and facility management business in China
("PFM China Business”)

Segment assets and liabilities of the Group are not reported
to the Group's chief operating decision makers regularly. As a
result, reportable assets and liabilities have not been
presented in these consolidated financial statements.

fif ¥5 ¥R 2% Bff 5
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Bt ¥55 ¥R 2= Bfi 5%
(a) Segment Results (in HIK$°000) (a) HEBELHECGBEET )
Continuing operations
BRLCEER
Corporate
PFM China Overhead
ISP Business Business Subtotal (Note)
EREHR  TENER THER
BHREBER RRERER it (Hat)
2023 03%
Revenue e
— QOver time — — B 150,348 4367 154,715 - 154,715
150,348 4,367 154,715 - 154,715
Gross profit el 9,147 3,948 13,095 - 13,095
Gross profit margin % 6.1% 90.4% 8.5% - 8.5%
Operating expenses ReEm% (17,766) (4138) (21,904) (7,958) (29,862)
Operating loss REFR (8,619) (190) (8,809) (7,958) (16,767)
Operating loss margin HEEEE -5.7% -4.3% -5.7% - -10.8%
Interest expenses for lease BENSAX (36) (32) (68) = (68)
Other income EfA 559 199 758 630 1,388
Loss hefore taxation BHpER (8,096) (23) (8,119) (7.328) (15,447)
Taxation KE 194 9 203 - 203
Loss for the year ERER (7,902) (14) (7.916) (7.328) (15,244)
Note: Corporate overhead mainly represents corporate and Mgk THRERFERARRITBUEE -
administrative activities and shared services AR FEZ R o
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Bt 75 ¥R % M 5
Continuing operations
RELEXK
Corporate
PFM China Qverhead
ISP Business Business Subtotal (Note) Total
EREHR  FENER THER
KHREESH DHEERH et (Bt3E) &
2022 0202%
Revenue s
— Qver time — —BEH 217,685 7,238 224923 - 24923
217,685 7238 224923 - 224923
Gross profit EH 18,082 4578 22,660 - 22,660
Gross profit margin % 8.3% 63.2% 10.1% - 10.1%
Operating expenses fEmy (14,881) (4,735) (19,616) (6,072) (25,688)
Operating profit/(loss) BeEr/ (58 3,201 (157) 3,044 (6,072) (3,028)
Operating profit/loss) margin HERT (B % 1.5% -2.2% 1.4% - -1.3%
Costsinrelationto the Disposal ~~ BEHEFEMMA - - - (5650) (5650)
Interest expenses for lease BEMSRX (49) (38) (87) - (87)
Qther income EftlA 2814 822 3636 3593 7,229
Profit(loss) before taxation RaER/ (B8) 5966 627 6,593 (8,129) (1,536)
Taxation HE (164) - (164) - (164)
Profit/(loss) for the year ERER/ (B8) 5802 627 6,429 (8,129) (1,700)
Note: Corporate overhead mainly represents corporate and Mz THRERFZERARIRITBUES -
administrative activities and shared services. AR HZ AR o
AHEEREBR QA —E_ZFFR
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Information about major customers

Details of the customers contributing over 10% of total
revenue of the Group are as follows:

FEEFHNESR

EAEEBKEBEBIONNEZR
RFIBIIEAT

Continuing Operations

FERE XK
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Customer A’ EEA 49,078 -
Customer B’ EFEB 41,605 34,533
Customer C' xR C 29,537 46,703
Customer D' ZP D! 27,385 54,091
Customer E' EFE N/A2 T 38 2 25,060
Customer F' BEFF N/A2 18 2 24,163
147,605 184,550
Note: B 5
1. All of the above revenue were derived from ISP Business. 1. it ET B Was R B E AR A R K
HE ¥ -
2. The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the 2. HER =Y EEAEE RN RER

total revenue of the Group.

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

10% °
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(b) Geographical analysis

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong,
Macau and the PRC. The PRC includes Mainland China
but excludes Hong Kong and Macau.

The Group's revenue and information about its non-
current assets by geographical location (excluding
deferred tax assets) are detailed below:

(b)

Bt ¥5 3R & Bf X

th (& 53 e

AEENEBURES BFAK
TE-FESERBEAM - BR
BIREB R -

ANEB R R B D 2 Wk K IER
BEELR (TRREEEHRBEE)
SR

Revenue Wz
Continuing Operations
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Hong Kong and Macau N 150,348 217,685
PRC i 4,367 7,238
154,715 224,923
Non-current assets FRBEE
Continuing Operations
BEEEEK
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Hong Kong and Macau B FRORP 1,111 1,732
PRC s 733 204
1,844 1,936
=l /NG| T Z=FFRW
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8. OTHERINCOME AND GAIN ORLOSS

8. HhWAMliE&

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ok ar
Continuing Operations BHEEEER
Government subsidies (Note) BT BA (B 3E) = 2,128
Miscellaneous income H g A 406 684
Bank interest income SRITH B U A 3,516 3,374
Gain on disposal of property, HEME  HBELRB2BE
plant and equipment - 10
Dividend derived from financial assets R EIRAFEFAEBZEZ
at FVTPL TREENRES 1,511 1,335
Fair value change on financial assets BAFEFABRZ
at FVTPL TREENR T EED (4,156) (1,018)
Exchange gain B 5, 2 111 716
1,388 7,229

Note: Government subsidies for the year ended 31 December 2022
predominantly comprised of subsidies from the Employment Support
Scheme (“ESS") under the Anti-epidemic Fund of the Hong Kong
Government, which aim to retain employment and combat COVID-19.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no government
subsidy granted.

9. INTEREST EXPENSES

Continuing Operations FEEEER
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBENFEMX

Bt : BZE20226 12 A31 AL EE 2 BRATMEEE
ERREREESRFHENEES THR
FERTE (MRBLFEETE D) O0FRE - TRy
EERBUEMNEIAFTEMA - REZE
2023F 12 A31 BIEFE - EF REMK
R

9. MIRBK=

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT

68 87

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bl ¥ ¥R & M 5%
10. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 10. PRiipIEs1E
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Continuing Operations FEREER
Loss before taxation is arrived after FRIGAISIEE kR T3 %18
charging:
Staff costs, including directors’ BETHRA(BRIEESFHE)
emoluments (Note 11) (fFzE11) 48,029 52,371
Depreciation of property, M WBRRBETE
plant and equipment 531 713
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 2,130 2,302
Auditor's remuneration % B8 A 5 T
— Audit — Bz 1,025 1,000
— Non-audit — FEZ 155 150
Short-term lease expenses EHEERE 151 31
11. STAFF COSTS, INCLUDING DIRECTORS' 1. 8NN (BEESHE)
EMOLUMENTS
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BET I
Continuing Operations BEKEER
Wages and salaries IENFS
— included in cost of sales — FTABHER A 29,175 37,020
— included in general and — AR RITHRAX
administrative expenses 18,381 15,004
Pension — defined contribution scheme Rk & — RE 2l
— included in general and — FFA—R RITERA X
administrative expenses 473 347
48,029 52,371
AMERBR AR A = ) = = AR




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fif 5 ¥ % Bff 5

12. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS 12. ESEHIRIER
(a) Directors’ Emoluments (in HK$'000) (a) ESBEE GBETIT)
The remuneration of every Directors is set out below: BREEZHMETINT
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE2023F128310LLEE

Employer’s

contribution

Salaries, toa
allowances retirement

and benefit
bonuses* scheme*
e EEXEEIK
EUHE \AFEZ

Name of Directors EEng 5 TEAL* R+
Executive Director BITEE
Kingston Chu Chun Ho K 150 1,200 60 1,410

Independent Non-executive B FHTESE

Directors
Lau Man Tak 2~ 1= 240 - - 240
Eric Lee Hon Man TN 240 = = 240
To Chun Wai MIRE 240 - = 240

Non-executive Director FHITES

Lamn Chun Kit' R 600 - - 600
1,470 1,200 60 2,730
& Except for the Independent Non-executive Directors, the i BB IENITESRIN ZELHEH
amounts represented emoluments in respect of services RHEHEERARAFNENEBRA
provided in connection with the management of the affairs of FETT 2 FH 2 RSWEZ B & -

the Company or its subsidiaries undertaking.

L Appointed as a Non-executive Director with effect from 16 g H2022F2 16 A BREZERIEH
February 2022. TES -
'SP HO LD N GS BV [NFES: 2023 ANNUAL REPORT
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

HZE2022F 12831 BLLEE

Employer’s
contribution
Salaries, toa
allowances retirement
and benefit
Fees bonuses* scheme* Total
e EEHRAK
=30 S = | e o
Name of Directors EEMA we B4 * HER* HBET
Executive Director HITES
Kingston Chu Chun Ho R 150 1,200 60 1,410
Independent Non-executive B FHTEE
Directors
Lau Man Tak 2= 240 - - 240
Eric Lee Hon Man THX 240 - - 240
To Chun Wai iR (E 240 - - 240
Non-executive Director FHITES
Lam Chun Kit' A 523 - - 523
1,393 1,200 60 2,653
* Except for the Independent Non-executive Directors, the & MBIERITESIN  ZESHER

amounts represented emoluments in respect of services
provided in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company or its subsidiaries undertaking.

Appointed as a Non-executive Director with effect from 16
February 2022.

REEBEERRASEKEA R
PRETTZ B2 RIBWIZ BN S -

H2022462 A16 B EZF AIEH

TE=S-

A

=FF®
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fit ¥5 ¥R 2% Bff 5

(b)

(c)

P’S BRIEICIAD THREISERIST Vi R

Interest of Directors

()

(ii)

(iii)

During the year, no retirement benefits, payments
or benefits in respect of termination of Directors'
services were paid or made, directly or indirectly,
to the directors; nor are any payable (2022: Nil).
No consideration was provided to or receivable
by third parties for making available directors’
services (2022: Nil).

There are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings
in favour of Directors, their controlled bodies
corporate and connected entities (2022: Nil).

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Company’s business to
which the Company was a party and in which a
Director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year (2022:
Nil).

Five highest paid individuals

During the year, the five individuals whose emoluments
were the highest in the Group include one Director
(2022: one) whose emoluments are included in Note
12(a). The emoluments payable to the other four (2022:
four) highest paid individuals during the year are as

(b)

(c)

EFigm

(i)

(i)

(iii)

RER TEAEEEERK
3% ST AT SR R KRR A
BRARLEEZERBZARK
BA - TREERBUEN
PR (20224 : &) - AW EHE
ESEERBMBERE =
77 Bt ez (AB (2022 4F ¢
&) -

I EE R - EEREH A A
Ex REZEERERZEE
(20224 : &) -

RAFRERLIRAFE M
Y EFEARRARILZ
BEBRARBEB 2EAR
7 ZRHRAH  MARF]
ErERREAERNETHESR
BRHER (2022F : &) o

hfizEim AL

RERN AEBRUZKSH AL
AE—ZQ0NFE: —R)EE -
HBEZHMEEHRHEE120) &
FRN - BN TEMER (2022 4F ¢
ME)BREFALTZMESFHBNT

follows:
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T EEE T I
Salaries, allowances and benefits e RRELREDAGR

in kind 5,262 4,051

Pension — defined contribution BRE — RTERGTE
scheme 72 62
5,334 4113

2023 ANNUAL REPORT
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The emoluments of the above individuals fell within the
following bands:

Bt ¥5 3R & Bf X

ERATHMENFIATEE :

Number of individuals
A

Emolument bands [ ke ] m 2022
Nil to HK$1,000,000 T Z 71,000,000 7T 2 3

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 7B #51,000,001 L E
7B # 1,500,000 7T - _

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 7B #1,500,001 JTTE
78 % 2,000,000 7T 1 1

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 7B # 2 000,001 TR
78 % 2,500,000 7T _
4 4

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to any of the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

DISCONTINUED OPERATION AND DISPOSAL
OF SUBSIDIARIES

Pursuant to the circular of the Company dated 1 December
2021, the seller, being the Company, and purchaser, an
independent third party, entered into the sale and purchase
agreement on 26 November 2021, pursuant to which to the
seller conditionally agreed to sell, and the purchaser
conditionally agreed to acquire, the share capital,
representing 100% of the equity interest in the Disposal
Group, which in turns hold the equity interests of the
Disposal Group, at a cash consideration of HK$539.0 million.
The Disposal Group is principally engaged in the provision of
property and facility management business in Hong Kong
("PFM HK Business”) and integrated procurement, laundry,
cleaning, security, maintenance and technical support
services (“Ancillary Business”). On 10 January 2022, the
transaction was completed and the members of the Disposal
Group ceased to be subsidiaries of the Company.

Two operations discontinued along with the completion of
disposal of the Disposal Group as set out below:

(i) PFM HK Business; and

(i) Ancillary Business

13.

RER - 75K B & [ 7] L
ReHFALXNEAMES  FER
REMAZLMAREERFN M
SAFRBERAE(E -

ERILEXBEROESHELS

RIBEARNRBEAE2021F12818 2
WK R2021F11 A268 - &4 (A
ARAB)EER (BIFE=ZH)FIVLEE
WE Bl BEAERKERELE &
BEFAEGHERZERERAEN ((FHEEE
100% J#E) - MEESBABEHES
BEr2BRE ReREABK
539,000,000t > HEEEEER EIE
HEBMERKGEEER ((BEWE
MEmEEER]) RiGARE K
BRRE B RBIT SRR (5
BE]) - M2022F1A108 - X 5
Bk MEEEBZKERRTHEA
KRB ZHB AT -

TRHELERER T XAMENMEAE
BEKILEE

(i) BEVDEERREEEER: &

(i) EHEVER

A

=FF®
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(a) The profit from of the Discontinued Operations for (a) E—HIBREFEESRIEEBFENEG
the preceding financial year is analysed as SRR :
follows:
For the
period from
1 January
2022 to
10 January
2022
2022 &
1TH1B=Z
2022 F
1 B 10 H Hif
HK$'000
AT T
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, W E ARz Was - BRI SR
net of transaction costs 438,440
Profit for the period from B IEETEERE 208 A
the Discontinued Operations 438,440
(b) An analysis of the cash flows of the Discontinued (b) BERILEBNIAERENIRN

~:

Operations is as follows:

Net cash inflows from investing activities RERHZREMEFH

For the
period from
1 January
2022 to

10 January
2022
2022 %
1TA1TRZE
2022 %
1H10B HifE
HK$'000
BT T
529,197

(c) Related party transactions (c)

There is no related party transaction during the period.

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

FABRRZ
REBEBETFIREH T RS o
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14. TAXATION

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2022: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit for
the year after setting off available tax losses brought forward
from prior years. On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong
Legislative Council passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment)
(No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill") which introduces the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28
March 2018 and was gazette on the following day. Under the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2.0 million of
profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%,
and profits above HK$2.0 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The
profits of other group entities in Hong Kong not qualifying for
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be
taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong
profits tax of the qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25%
on the first HK$2.0 million of the estimated assessable profits
and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above
HK$2.0 million.

The PRC EIT was calculated at the statutory income tax rate
of 25% (2022: 25%) on the assessable profits.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no
Macau Complementary Income Tax has been provided since
there were no assessable profits generated.

Taxation on profits generated outside Hong Kong has been
calculated on the estimated assessable profits for the year at
the rates of taxation prevailing in the countries/places in
which the Group operates.

14.

fif ¥5 ¥R 2% Bff 5

i I8

BABNEBDIERNEE 2 M ESR R
FIERKETFEE 2 AHIBEEER
LARR 2R 16.5% (2022 4F : 16.5% ) B -
R2018F3 821 B BB LEEB
CCO17EH B (BT (B75%) GHIER)
([MEMEZR]) - ASI ARZ TG X
B o Z GBI E =P 201843 A28 H
RERBEF  THREBATE - ERRK
FIBHMEFNET FEEREEES
B /8 # 2,000,000 7T A9 i F #5 1% 8.25%
B R R - BB B 75 8 2,000,000 7T BY
i A B & 12 16.5% T R EF - TR E
MBRFIERHESEERNEEHME
EEREAGEMSEER165% M5 —
BB B EREEERHNED
A5 4% & 78 ¥ 2,000,000 7T B 1 51 18
SR B T B9 8.25% K iR 48 75 5 2,000,000
TCE i ET E R BUE T A9 16.5% 51 & ©

Bl 7 AT 1S B T 15 B AR Wik A A R
PGB BE K 25% (2022 4F : 25%) &1 & -

BN E E2023F k2022612 4311
I FE AR M|EL ERBEN - B &
BFIFFIS R TTI E -

ERBRINTES G 2 AT REAN
FEMEFERFENEAEEEERE
BR/ MEmRITHEAE -

A

=FF®
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The amount of tax (credited)/charged to the consolidated

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fif 5 ¥ % Bff 5

meBmkEMEERER GTA)/H

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income MR BIRTHEMT
represents:
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Continuing Operations FEEEXER
Current taxation = A
Hong Kong profits tax EBMEH
— provision for the year — FARE - 207
— over provision in prior years — BEFEEERE (165) -
Deferred taxation (Note 26) RAE T IE (P 5 26) (38) (43)
(203) 164

The taxation on the Group's loss before taxation differs from
the theoretical amount that would arise using the taxation

A& BRR B A B 18 2 TR SR A QB FT
EBERCMEREEL ZIERVRIER

rate of the home country of the Company as follows: LU
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Continuing Operations BELSEER
Loss before taxation M FH Al E 18 (15,447) (1,536)
Calculated at a taxation rate of 16.5% EHE16.5%TE
(2022: 16.5%) (20224 : 16.5%) (2,549) (253)
Effect of different taxation rates HAn % al AR R AR B %
in other tax jurisdictions -7 (22) 19
Over provision in prior years MEFEBERE (165) -
Income not subject to taxation BERTWA (600) (1,199)
Expenses not deductible for AR F 2
taxation purposes 505 1,654
Utilisation of tax losses previously FIR LR R TR IEE R
not recognised (241) (778)
Unrecognised tax losses REMRZHIEERE 2,869 721
(203) 164
S RP*H O D 1IN GISEISm\ I RINE S 2023 ANNUAL REPORT
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15. DIVIDEND 15. X2
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Continuing Operations BEEEER
Dividend recognised as distribution REEEBRBRDIKZEE
during the year:
First special dividend of HK$0.59 FIRERIRE - FR&HD
per share (Note) A 0.59 7T (Fi7E) - 297,862
Second special dividend of HK$0.20 FERERIRE - BR&RHD
per share (Note) BH0.20 7T (B 5E) - 100,970
- 398,832
Note: At Board of Directors (“Board”) meetings held on 20 January 2022 and MIsE : 2022491 A208 & 2022411 A23 8 £
23 November 2022, the Board resolved to declare special dividend of TEEg((EEg)gmt EFH)
HK$0.59 per share/per convertible preference share and HK$0.20 per ZEZE2022812A831HLEEEN
share/per convertible preference share respectively based on 504,850,000 % i 15 (12 4% 424,850,000 A%
504,850,000 shares (including 424,850,000 ordinary shares and 7 A% % 80,000,000 % 7] & #2 @ £ AR) - 5 5l
80,000,000 convertible preference shares) for the year ended 31 BIREF ARSI, AT SR (B SR AR AW
December 2022 (2023: Nil and Nil, respectively). 0.59 7T & B AR AR 17,/ 7 83 #2485 AR % %5 0.20
TL(2023%F : DRI AERE) °
At a meeting held on 27 March 2024, the Board resolved not MR2024F3A27BRTT28#% L &
to declare final dividend for year ended 31 December 2023 EERRATHEE2023F12A3181E
(2022: Nil). FEEIRAMAE (20224 : &) -

SEEBRAERA —z-=s45% _ QIE
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16. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a)

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

16. 8% (&8) &l

Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing (@)
the Group's (loss)/profit attributable to the equity
holders less dividends (if any) to convertible preference
shareholders by the weighted average number of

ordinary shares in issue during the year.

FREXR (BER) BN IDRER
BFEARGAER (B1R), &
AR AR BRI EREAAZ
BREMMB)GLAFREEHTER
BniEF g E -

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable BB A FEEF R
to equity holders (HK$'000) (B8R),/&H (E%FT)
— Continuing Operations and — HEREEBR
Discontinued Operations BERRIEER (15,244) 436,740
— Continuing Operations — REREER (15,244) (1,700)
Less: dividends to convertible B AT ST AR AR AE
preference shareholders FAEAZBRE
(HK'000) (B¥ETT)
— Continuing Operations and — BBREEBR
Discontinued Operations ERIEER = (63,200)
— Continuing Operations — FHEREE = -
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable  E @B EF B ABIGFA
to ordinary shareholders (HK'000) (E518), /&7 (BT T)
— Continuing Operations and — FHEREEBR
Discontinued Operations BRI ER (15,244) 373,540
— Continuing Operations — REREER (15,244) (1,700)
Weighted-average number of BEITE @R INE S8
ordinary shares issued ('000) (FA%) 424,850 424,850
Basic (loss)/earnings per share BREX (EEB) BT
(HK cents) (B
— Continuing Operations and — BEREEBR
Discontinued Operations BARIEER (3.6) 87.9
— Continuing Operations — RHEREER (3.6) 0.4

2023 ANNUAL REPORT
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(b)  Diluted (loss)/earnings per share for the Reporting Year (b) RBEFEZESRES (BB &
is calculated by dividing the Group’s (loss)/profit FITHPA Bh AT B 4B SE IR S T B AT
attributable to the equity holders by the weighted- BT LBRELFAERE  BIE
average number of ordinary shares outstanding after RiERE ABGERERE (B18), &
adjusting for the potential ordinary shares to be issued MBR AT EBRMEFIHHAE
on convertible preference shares. The calculation of the AE-ARAEBRERAAR
diluted (loss)/earnings per share attributable to the HEREE (B1E) BF TR E
ordinary equity holders of the Company is based on the AT BURETE

following data:

(Loss)/earnings (B518) &R
(Loss)/earnings for the purposes HERER(EE),
of basic (loss)/earnings per share BF e (E18), BT
(HK$'000) (B¥TT)
— Continuing Operations and — FHEREEBR
Discontinued Operations BRIEER (15,244) 436,740
— Continuing Operations — FEREER (15,244) (1,700)
Number of share R&HEE
Weighted-average number of BT T mARINE T8
ordinary shares issued ('000) (Fh%) 424,850 424,850
Effect of dilutive potential BEEEEBRZTE
ordinary shares:
— Conwvertible preference shares — ATEME SRR (FAR)
('000) 80,000 80,000

Weighted-average ordinary shares R EERBERT
for calculating diluted earnings/(loss)  (E518) Z hnkEF 15

per share (000) 3B (TR 504,850 504,850
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share TREE (E1R) BT
(HK cents) (BEE)
— Continuing Operations and —REREEB R
Discontinued Operations B4R IEET (3.0) 86.5
— Continuing Operations — REREER (3.0) (0.3)

BERERA A T _=F5% 145
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fit ¥5 ¥R 2% Bff 5

Discontinued Operations

For the year ended 31 December 2022, basic and diluted
earnings per share for the Discontinued Operations was 88.3
HK cents and 86.8 HK cents respectively, based on the profit
for the year from Discontinued Operations attributable to
ordinary shareholders of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2022 of approximately HK$438,440,000 and the
denominators detailed above for both basic and diluted

earnings per share.

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BEIERE

HZE2022F12831BILtFE  E&RIE
EBHNBREAREERT DR ABEE
8831l R EME 86.81ll + THiRIEE = 2022
F12A3MAEFERR R L BRRE
A ARG DR IEEBHE RGOS
¥ 438,440,000 7T &k 3CFFill 2 &A% A
AREBERBF) 2 HE -

17. H5R ~ 8315t

Furniture
Right-of-use Leasehold Motor and
assets improvements vehicles  equipment Total
RRREE HENEEE RE GERRG #it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BETR BRI BRI BRI
Cost A
At 1 January 2022 R02%F1A1H 6,483 1,942 2956 9,649 21,030
Exchange differences ERZS (583) 7 (133) (167) (876)
Additions HE 1614 - - 188 1,802
Disposals/written-off HE /M (3,096) (426) - (2,011) (5533)
At 31 December 2022 R2022%512A318 4418 1523 2823 7659 16423
Exchange differences EREE (38) - (29) (12) (75)
Additions AE 2496 - - 90 2,586
Disposals/written-off HE/HE (3888) - - - (3888)
At 31 December 2023 120235128318 2,988 1,523 2,798 1,731 15,046
Accumulated depreciation ZithE
At 1 January 2022 B2 1718 (3819) (1,846) (2425) (8,901) (16,991)
Exchange differences ERES 444 ) 112 164 714
Depreciation for the year ERNFE (2302 (20) (282) 411) (3,015)
Disposals/written-off HE/H# 2368 46 - 2011 4805
At 31 December 2022 120225128318 (3309) (1,4406) (2,595) (7137) (14,487)
Exchange differences EXES 36 - 3 12 71
Depreciation for the year ERRE (2,130) (20) (113) (398) (2,661)
Disposals/written-off e /i 3875 - - - 3875
At 31 December 2023 120235128318 (1,528) (1,466) (2,685) (7,523) (13,202)
Closing net hook value EREEFE
At 31 December 2023 120235128318 1,460 57 13 214 1,844
At 31 December 2022 R2022512A318 1,109 77 228 522 1,936

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Right-of-use assets

For both years, the Group leases office premises and

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

furniture and equipment for its operations.

Bt ¥5 3R & Bf X

RHEEE

RMEFE  AEESHE
ESIESEYNE

HERQ

fid

Leasehold Furniture
Land and and
buildings equipment Total

HEL#H

EgF¥ HKERERE #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
BET T BET R BETT

At 1 January 2022 R2022F1H1H 2,414 250 2,664
Additions nE 1,614 - 1,614
Termination Rk (728) - (728)
Depreciation e (2,180) (122) (2,302)
Exchange differences PE X =58 (139) - (139)
Balance as at 31 December 2022 2022912 A31H X

and 1 January 2023 2023F 1 A1 HA & 981 128 1,109
Additions NE 2,383 113 2,496
Termination Ak - (12) (12)
Depreciation e (2,024) (106) (2,130)
Exchange differences PE 5 =58 3) - (3)
At 31 December 2023 2023412 A31H 1,337 123 1,460

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the total cash
outflow for leases were HK$2,309,000 (2022: HK$2,474,000).

HZE2023F12A31AILEE - HEZ
I8 47 45 A7 % 2,309,000 7T (2022
& B 474,0007T) ©

A
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it ¥% 3R

= Bt 5

18. CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT IT
Contract assets BHEE
— contract work of ISP business — EREMRIEKRIER
E¥BNEHIE (i) 86,365 116,548
Less: impairment B ORE (ih) (793) (649)
Total contract assets BHEERSE 85,572 115,899
Contract liabilities EHEE
— contract work of ISP business — BRI NFRIER
EBMEH TR (i) (2,200) -
Total contract liabilities EHBERTE (2,200) -
Notes: BsE -
(i) Significant changes in contract assets 0] BRHEENEREY

(i)

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Contract assets have decreased as the Group has completed contract
work in progress as at 31 December 2023.

Movements in the provision for impairment of contract assets that are
assessed for impairment collectively are as follows:

(ii)

BHEERY  ARAEEMN2023F12A4
31 BT TIRE LT -

AMAEE RRFERE) 2 AEREED
o

2023 2022
HK$000 HK$'000
B¥TT BEF T

Contract Assets BHEE
At 1 January m1A1H 649 973
Reversal of impairment loss AR REE - (324)
Provision for impairment recognised BRI ER R 144 -
At 31 December MW12A31H 793 649

For contract assets, the Group has applied the simplified approach
permitted by HKFRS 9 to measure the allowance for credit losses at
lifetime ECL. The contract assets are assessed for ECL by using the
provision matrix similar with the approach of account receivables. After
the assessment by the directors of the Company, the allowance for ECL
on contract assets are HK$793,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
HK$649,000).

RENEEMS ' AEBECHKARBUER
SRR FRATET ML A ERETE
HEEBEEL T ZEERBREG 608
ENEHEEHBERRRERR G EZEM
B R BB R ATl - MA AR ERTE -
M2023F12A31 0 ANEEMNEHREE
B8 B f5 A 78 B 793,000 7T (2022 4F : B
649,0007T) °
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(iii) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities (iii)

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the
current reporting period relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.

Bt ¥5 3R & Bf X

FLE K B AR RS

TRISEEEEHHENEERAENR
AERABRBCELENBEFERTH

BHEERHENEHE -
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Revenue recognised that was included in REVIET A G N B BEERD
the contract liability balance at B RER s
the beginning of the period
Contract work of ISP Business ERRNRSHKIER
EBMEHNTIE - 497
(iv) Unsatisfied long-term contract work of ISP Business (iv) ERNEMREREEEKHNATKESRS

The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligations resulting
from long-term contract work of ISP Business.

DEER12A31AEDH
EEARTEUE

EBNERMENNRZZBEE

Aggregate amount of the transaction price
allocated to long-term contract work of ISP
business that are partially or fully unsatisfied
as at 31 December

A R R R IR B

HIR

TRINBRREAKDHRFHRIAE EZBD
RPAGHTZORTRBEHEE -

2023 2022
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T BETT
141,200 285,900

Management expects approximately that HK$141,200,000 (2022:
HK$285,900,000) to the unsatisfied contracts as of 31 December 2023
will be recognised as revenue during the next financial year. The
amount disclosed above does not include variable consideration which
is constrained.

iy
[
&5
af
@
»
Il

BIRBHEATEST A 20234F 12 A 31 BARTK
A #8978 141,200,000 7T (2022 4F : B
285,900,000 7T) IS EH HER A T — M BFE
KU ES o EXATH BRI S BB ARG AZ R 5
AJERE -

T-_=x5%
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19. ACCOUNT AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
RETENTION RECEIVABLES

The credit period of the Group’s accounts receivable
generally ranges from 30 to 60 days (2022: 30 to 60 days)
and the majority of the Group's accounts receivable are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The ageing analysis of
accounts receivable by invoice date is as follows:

19. FEMQARTA IR H fth & U 54 1A J% [E&

KiREE

AEEBRKERZEEHRH RN T30
Z60H (20224 :30E608) * MAL
B2 K2 n BRI BT E - 1%
BEAMSE 2 ERRRZBRER DT
T

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T EEET T
Account receivables (Note /) BEUWERTR (Kat 1)
0 to 30 days 0%30H 1,026 11,042
31 to 60 days 31260H 1,984 -
61 to 90 days 61290H 2,997 516
Over 90 days 90 B £ 28,310 28,896
34,317 40,454
Other receivables H {th FE W FRIE 10,703 11,460
45,020 51,914
Impairment of account and EWERREMERREZ
other receivables (Note ///) WA (i) (4,648) (5,403)
40,372 46,511
Retention receivables (Note /) EWRE S (M) 47,371 56,548
Impairment of retention EWRE € ZBE (F )
receivables (Note /l]) (489) (220)
46,882 56,328

Note I:

Retention receivables in respect of the contracting business are settled in
accordance with the terms of the respective contracts. At 31 December 2023,
retention receivables held by customers for contract works amounting to
approximately HK$7,988,000 (2022: HK$4,954,000) are expected to be
recovered or settled in more than 12 months from the end of the reporting
period, all of the remaining balances are expected to be recovered or settled
within one year. Retention receivables are included in current assets as the
Group expects to realise these within its normal operating cycle.

The retention receivables are contract assets under HKFRS 15 until the end of

the retention period as the Group'’s entitlement to this final payment is
conditional on the Group's work satisfactorily passing inspection.

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Htatl:

AGREER 2 BRWIRE S THIRIEARRE & L IE k&1 -
M20234F 12 A31 8 » 4974% 7,988,000 7T (2022
& B 4,954,0007T) 2 BEFHETRN IRFANE
WRE S TEHRREARE12MEA B KRR
i+ A B ERTEHARN 1 & MUK B sk 4 1 - FEUURE
SHARDEE  RANEEEHNEELCLBH

BRESHA -

BRREER/BEVEREEREISHKETHEL
BE BEEREHTARL RS ERIGZRD
FEARAEE 2 TRETRBBRANGEZ— -
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For retention receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach REBKRESHS  AEEEERBEBMBREE

permitted by HKFRS 9 to measure the allowance for credit losses at lifetime B9 RFNL AT E2 B HEEBRE

ECL. The retention receivables are assessed for ECL by using the provision BRT 2 EEEERE BRRESZ2AHREES

matrix similar with the approach of account receivables. After the assessment 1B Y18 A B E R R A RO B AE R AT A o

by the directors of the Company, the allowance for ECL on retention RNRABESFFTE - R2023F K 20224612 A318 -

receivables are insignificant to the Group as at 31 December 2023 and 2022. BURRERDEEFEEREBHAEEMSLTE
* o

Note II: BaL il

As of 31 December 2023, account receivables of HK$29,944,000 (2022: 7K2023% 128318 &% 29,944,0007t (2022

HK$28,568,000) were past due but not impaired. These related to a number of F : B 28,568,0007T) 2 FE W AR K E B BB R OR

independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default. B - ZEFRELRAMY BENDENB LR

Account receivables of HK$1,804,000 (2022: HK$2,422,000) were past due and AR - 7% 1,804,000 7T (20224 : & ¥ 2,422,000

impaired. 7T) Z MR K E B H RORE -

Note IlI: BraE Il

The other classes within account and other receivables do not contain JE M BR R % EL A W R TE R B A AR B I S B R E R

impaired assets. The Group does not hold any collateral as security. BEE - AKEYEFEEMERRER/ER -

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BYTT BT T

Impairment of account and other receivables  FEUZ iR 7 K E ft FE U SR B R E

At 1 January ®1A1TH 5,403 5,660
Reversal of provision for impairment TR B B B (755) (257)
At 31 December W12A31H 4,648 5,403

2023 2022
HK$000 HK$'000
B¥TT BEF T
Impairment of retention receivables EWRESHE
At 1 January ®1A1H 220 196
Provision for impairment recognised BRI E A 269 24
At 31 December ®12A31H 489 220
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying NS A HTEE 2 &5 EERBR A Ll EUERK
value of the account and other receivable and retention receivables mentioned REMEEFERERRES 2 REE - AEEL
above. The Group does not hold any collateral as security. R EHEIR R EER -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

Listed equity securities in Hong Kong

BB LT HBRANE 5

20. BRYFESAERNERERE

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T

24,497 28,653

The listed equity securities are classified as current assets as
the management expects to realise these financial assets
within twelve months after 31 December 2023.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on
the degree to which the fair value is observable in
accordance to the Group's accounting policy.

AR EIREEHEAE2023F12 A31H
BINEARNERELEHEE FTHE

7N S 00 B i A A B I
AFESHE

TREHNRSREDRIZA T ENED
I AESIT  EREBEASEEHN IR
B RATENUBERESAE—=
F=M -

2023
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
- 1 E=H st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT BT BT
Financial asset SREE
Financial assets at FVTPL BOTESAERNERERE
— Listed equity investment — kAR E 24,497 - - 24,497
2022
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ FH E=R mar
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ok BETT oL AT
Financial asset SREE
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFAERNEREE
— Listed equity investment — FHRAERE 28,653 - - 28,653

During the year, there was no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers

ERN - E—REE R EAVEEREA
FEFTE - INEEASRENE =K (2022
F ) o

into or out of Level 3 (2022: Nil).

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The valuation techniques and input used in the fair value
measurement of financial instrument are as set out below:

Bt ¥5 3R & Bf X

TR TARAVEFEMBZHETER
BABBHEIIMT

Fair value Valuation technique
Financial asset Fair value of hierarchy and key input
TREE D¥E AFEER REFEREREARE
Financial asset at FVTPL
BAFEAABRNEREE
— Listed equity securities HK$24,497,000 (2022: Level 1 Quoted closing price in
in Hong Kong HK$28,653,000) an active market
— BB LETIRAE 78 24,497,000 7T E—R FE R BB T 355 PR i e Y T (B
(2022 % :
75 28,653,000 7T )
RESTRICTED CASH DEPOSITS 2. ZREIVEEFR
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT

Restricted cash deposits ZRHEFEEER

62,620 -

During the Reporting Year, the Group's restricted cash
deposits are placed in two restricted bank accounts in
accordance with the court judgement made on 21 April 2023
amounting to HK$58,880,000 (2022: Nil) and the
arrangement after the consent summons filed to the court
on 18 July 2023 amounting to HK$3,740,000 (2022: Nil),
respectively.

These cash deposits were placed in the designated interest-
bearing bank accounts in Hong Kong under the custodian’s
arrangement. They can be only used to settle potential future
claims related to the court cases against the custodian, as
specified in the surety bonds entered between the Group
and custodian in early years. The restricted cash deposits will
be released and repaid to the Group upon the settlement of
the relevant court cases or by further court order.

The details of the relevant court cases are set out in Note 30
to the consolidated financial statements.

RFEFE  RIFER2023F4A21H
E i 78 # 58,880,000 7T (2022 4F : ##)
B E BT #R R A 202347 B 18 B A%
RREXAZEEASHKREELBE
3,740,0007C (20224 : ) M2 HE - &
E @A F R HIR 7R BIF KA M E
SRHBITEHRSSF -

HEREHEARDEEE ALBFALT
ME B ERITHRS - REANKEE
EARERITNREENRE - LER
SHEARREARNFBERRETEE AR
ERMHEBNEERRE XREIBEF
R ERBEZERTERIEEE—F
BSRBEEWEEAEHE -

MEEER M F BN AR A B 75 R M
730

=

=FF®
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22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

22. RERBESEREMPIRTT

Fr

2023 2022

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Cash and bank balance RE RIRITHEH 28,191 21,049
Time deposits with original REBIB A=A LA T&

maturities less than three months FHF R 40,050 132,378

Cash and cash equivalents RekBHeFE 68,241 153,427

Pledged bank deposits EEMBITER 16,394 19,524

84,635 172,951

Included in the cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank
deposits are the following amounts denominated in foreign
currencies other than the functional currency of relevant
group entities;

RMB AR
Macau pataca EFITT

RekReFERERRRITFRERE
A TARBESEERINEEEIAINGE
BETENSE

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

18,833 18,801
124 385

The deposits, cash and cash equivalents disclosed above and
in the consolidated statement of cash flows include
HK$18,833,000 (2022: HK$18,801,000) which are held in the
PRC. These deposits are subject to regulatory restrictions
and are therefore not available for general use by the other
entities within the Group.

EXHENGER RERBESFEM
ANEAB & RERB%18833,0007T
(20224 : 118,801,000 7T) HEH &
BB ZEGRAIZEERT  ALEE
NEMBEBRAGEBIELS—KAE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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23. PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 23. [EfFIRFAIRIESTE R
The credit period of the Group's accounts payable generally AEBERNERZEER KRN F30
ranges from 30 to 60 days (2022: 30 to 60 days). The ageing £60H (20224 : 30E60H) - H#EE
analysis of accounts payable by invoice date is as follows: HHOBZEBNERRZRRITAT
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Accounts payable FE 1S BR X
0 to 30 days 0Z30H 61,795 100,796
31 to 60 days 31260H 3,070 8,828
61 to 90 days 61Z290H 3,114 5,796
Over 90 days 90 B Ak 18,542 28,033
86,521 143,453
Retention payables, other ERRES  HMECERIR
payables and accruals EitEA 73,686 79,246
160,207 222,699
Retention payables in respect of the contracting business are FEEBZENRESTHRBERBEL
settled in accordance with the terms of the respective TRFREERT -
contracts.
AHEEREBR QA T Z=FFRW
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24. LEASE LIABILITIES 24. THEBE
Leasehold Furniture
land and and
buildings equipment Total
FAE L
kEF HERRE ‘st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BEET T BT T
At 1 January 2022 R2022F1H1H 2,592 163 2,755
Additions NE 1,614 - 1,614
Termination 4Rk (760) - (760)
Interest expenses FMERXZ 77 10 87
Lease payments HEMK (2,307) (136) (2,443)
Exchange differences EHER (241) 100 (147)
At 31 December 2022 and M2022F12B8318E
1 January 2023 2023 F1H1H 975 137 1,112
Additions NE 2,384 112 2,496
Termination Sl - (13) (13)
Interest expenses FERX 63 5 68
Lease payments HEMK (2,042) (116) (2,158)
Exchange differences PEER (4) o (4)
At 31 December 2023 M2023F12H31H 1,376 125 1,501
Represented by: K&
Current mE 1,032 54 1,086
Non-current FERE 344 71 415

1,376 125 1,501
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Future lease payments are due as follows:

REBEMRBIBAT :

Minimum
lease Present
payments Interest value
53[5
HEMAR FIE RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T BT T
Not later than one year 1FRN 1,125 (39) 1,086
Later than one year and 118 B2F A
not later than two years 375 9) 366
Later than two years not later than 2F & B5F R
five years 50 1) 49
At 31 December 2023 M2023F12H31H 1,550 (49) 1,501
Minimum
lease Present
payments Interest value
=K
HERK FE WA
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB T BT T BT T
Not later than one year 1FR 1,072 (19) 1,053
Later than one year and 1FBE2FR
not later than two years 59 - 59

At 31 December 2022 R2022F12 A31H

1,131

(19)

1,112

LONG SERVICE PAYMENT LIABILITIES

Pursuant to the Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57, the
Group has the obligation to pay Long Service Payment (“LSP")
to qualifying employees in Hong Kong upon retirement,
subject to a minimum of 5 years employment period, based
on the following formula:

Last monthly wages (before termination of employment) x
2/3 x Years of service

Last monthly wages are capped at HK$22,500 while the
amount of long service payment shall not exceed
HK$390,000. This obligation is accounted for as a post-
employment defined benefit plan.

25. RHIRFSE &IE

REEBEGIESTE  AEEEEBE
BFENAERERRKBRE MK
REE (REREE))  -EE2PEAS
FHERDH FAEQIRWLT :

RE—EATE (RIEREAT X 2/3 xR

BER

E—EALILEMN LR BB 22500
T MEREREEN BN FRBBEEE
390,0007T ° W B & S 1E A B Z K E
ERAETEIALK -
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Furthermore, the MPF Schemes Ordinance passed in 1995
permits the Group to utilize the Group’s mandatory MPF
contributions, plus/minus any positive/negative returns
thereof (collectively, the “Eligible Offset Amount”), for the
purpose of offsetting LSP payable to an employee (the
“Offsetting Arrangement”).

The Amendment Ordinance was gazette on 17 June 2022,
which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits derived from
employers’ mandatory MPF contributions to offset the LSP.
The Abolition will officially take effect on the Transition Date
(i.e., 1 May 2025). Separately, the Government of the HKSAR
is also expected to introduce a subsidy scheme to assist
employers for a period of 25 periods after the Transition
Date on the LSP payable by employers up to a certain
amount per employee per year.

Under the Amendment Ordinance, the Group’s mandatory
MPF contributions, plus/minus any positive/negative returns,
after the Transition Date can continue to be applied to offset
the pre-Transition Date LSP obligation but are not eligible to
offset the post-Transition Date LSP obligation. Furthermore,
the LSP obligation before the Transition Date will be
grandfathered and calculated based on the last monthly
wages immediately preceding the Transition Date and the
years of service up to that date. The Amendment Ordinance
has impact on the Group's LSP liability with respect to
employees that participate in MPF scheme and the Group
has accounted for the offsetting mechanism and its abolition
as disclosed in Notes 2(b) and 4(f). The LSP obligations are
net of the negative service cost and interest income arising
from the deemed contribution from employees, as the
employer MPF contributions are expected to be offset as a
deemed employee contribution towards the LSP benefits.

BESI 1995 4F 37 1B 1Y 58 8 & 5T & 1% Bl
AHFAEENBAEENEE S HR
miE/REEFERE8ERR (5HE
BIAEEREBHAD UEHENEE
MRRE ([Eh<EE]) -

BETIEMIE R2022E6 178 FIE -
ZIEPIEREAREERESHRZEE
EREEERE - BHEERERESH B
(BP20254F1 81 8) IER AR o thoh -
TEE R RFREM NS S H D maE
2| AEE B%25EHEA  HEET
SNEBMNERE  SREEFFEMU
ETEHEAR -

RIFEFTRD - REH R NEEZ
BESEFRN L REEMEE8E
El3R A SR AREEG AT RRS
#7%  BETAERBHEEN BRORR
EEG R BHEIAMNEREES
RESH R  YENERRET BAI&X
B—EANTERBEZA LWRBEF
BitE - ERIRPIC AR B ARBE2 E
BRESEZEEZRREBEEKT
& WM T 2(0) R AN AT E - AKE
EpEHG M EERETEMEE - K
REBHEHRESRIEERTELN
BERBERARMEWA - AREHE
ITNRBEHRBERREERRER
M EYAR VB SR T PAE 8 -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Employment & Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 was
gazette on 17 June 2022, which abolishes the Offsetting
Arrangement. The Amendment will come into effect
prospectively from a date to be determined by the Hong
Kong SAR Government, which is expected to be in 2025 (the
“Transition Date”). Under the amended Ordinance, the
Eligible Offset Amount after the Transition Date can only be
applied to offset the pre-Transition Date LSP obligation but
no longer eligible to offset the post-Transition Date LSP
obligation. Furthermore, the LSP obligations before the
Transaction Date will be grandfathered and calculated based
on the Last monthly wages immediately preceding the
Transaction Date.

As disclosed in Note 2, the Group has changed its accounting
policy in connection with LSP obligation to conform with the
HKICPA Guidance. As at December 2023, the LSP obligation
is HK$256,000 (2022: HK$128,000) and presented on a net
basis.

Movements in present value of the unfunded long service
payment obligations are as follows:

fif ¥5 ¥R 2% Bff 5

2022 FIEE MR IRETENE S R HE)
(BE)IEMEFR2022F6 A17 B TIE -
TGP ERE AT - ZIBEERBRE
BRI TR BB SR A TEE
#2025 ([#H H]) £ - REL
BEE  BHAENAE BRIEHEER
BERARYPES ANERS  mMAE
BERERES BRORRS - 1o
RBEZANERESEBETZRES
WZZXSBEZANEE—EATENE -

WM 2T E  AEEEERE SR
EREEXHBEBEOSFTEER  UKFESE
BEETEIAEIES - R2023%12A -
RHERRTE £ &% 5781 256,000 7T (2022
& Bk 128,0007T) @ HFEEHEEZT o

AXNRBBBEEBIREZEHWT

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
At beginning of the year F14 128 133
Expenses recognised in profit or loss: RERERZFX
Current service cost B HA AR 75 B AR 8 4
Interest cost B A 98 -
Past service cost B AR AR 3 1
237 138
Benefit payments from employer BEZHZEF (91) -
146 138
Remeasurements recognised in REMEENEERZ
other comprehensive income: EHEE
Actuarial loss arising from changes in ARRABRREDEE Y
demographic assumptions EEEE - 3
Actuarial gains arising from changes in BB RESHEL 2
financial assumptions EE s (26) (13)
Actuarial loss arising from changes in KEBRABREHELY
experience adjustments BEER 136 -
At the end of the year FR 256 128

The average duration of the benefit obligation at 31
December 2023 is 2.34 years (2022:1.56 years).

M2023F 12 A31H ' BAEBEH Y
FHIA234F (20224 : 1.564F) °

=
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26. DEFERRED TAXATION

Deferred taxation is calculated in full on temporary
differences under the liability method using tax rates
substantively enacted as at the date of statement of financial
position. The movement on the net deferred tax (assets)/
liabilities account is as follows:

26.

31 SE 3¢ I8

ELBERARMBRRNE 2 BREE
B2 B R R A EERE R EREG
H-BEBEBE) AGREFEZ
HEIMT

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT T

Beginning of the year F ) (182) (139)
Deferred taxation recognised RERERZELEN A

in profit or loss (Note 14) (KF5E14) (38) (43)

End of the year FR (220) (182)

The movement on the deferred tax assets and liabilities (prior
to offsetting of balances within the same taxation jurisdiction)
during the year is as follows:

BEEHRBEER ARG (RERK DA
REEEGHRI) RNAFRE 2ZEHMT

Deferred tax Deferred tax

liabilities assets

EEREEE EEREEE

Accelerated Accounting

tax tax

depreciation depreciation

MERERE SHHRERE

HK$'000 HK$'000

SEETTT BT

At 1 January 2022 R2022F1 A1 H 129 (268)

(Credited)/charged to profit or loss PEzE (GEA), Bk 71) 28
At 31 December 2022 and R2022F 12 A31H K

1 January 2023 2023F1H1H 58 (240)

(Credited)/charged to profit or loss PiEzE (GEA), Bk (50) 12

At 31 December 2023 R2023F 12831 H 8 (228)

No deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried
forward. The Group has unrecognised tax losses of
approximately HK$192,654,000 (2022: HK$177,139,000) to
carry forward against future taxable income. The remaining
tax loss do not have expiry dates.

P’S BRIEICIAD THREISERIST Vi R

MEREENTIABERERRECHRIAE
Eo-ASBZAERBEBE  BEY
7 #192,654,0007C (2022 4F : B #&
177,139,0007T) * Al A& B LA R 2R 2
FERRBEUIA o 84 T I8 B 18 30 /& [E m B
H o
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a BERETEATAITRAMNA S E ANIAEE
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against HEMWBEAEEHE METERED R
current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes relate to B — B B R - B AT RE 7 1E & A
the same fiscal authority. The following amounts, determined REMIEBEEREE - Eat AEEE
after appropriate offsetting, are shown in the consolidated iH1% - NIl BEEEE M BARRAKTAT
statement of financial position. R o
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Deferred tax assets RIETR IR B B (228) (240)
Deferred tax liabilities RIETRIEE & 8 58
(220) (182)
27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. RN
Number of
shares Amount
RDEE ]
‘000 HK$'000
TR BT
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 7R2022F1H108 - 2022%F
2022, 1 January 2023 and 12H31H -2023F1A1H
31 December 2023 % 2023F12A31H
Authorised: ETE
— Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each — BREBBRBER 01T 9,000,000 900,000
— Convertible preference shares — BRATERELR
("CPSs") of HK$0.1 each (Note) ([rregm @ se i)
0.1 7T (M) 1,000,000 100,000
10,000,000 1,000,000
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 7R2022F1H108 - 2022%F
2022, 1 January 2023 and 12H31H -2023F1A1H
31 December 2023 % 2023%12H31H
Issued and fully paid: DEITRER
— Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each — BREBBRBEE 01T 424,850 42,486
— CPSs of HK$0.1 each (Note) — BIRATERE LR
P01 7T (M) 80,000 8,000
504,850 50,486
AHEEREBR QA —E_ZFFR
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Note: 80,000,000 CPSs of HK$0.75 each were issued as part of the
consideration paid for the acquisition of ISP business in late 2012. The
rights, privileges and restrictions of the CPS are set out below:

(i)

(iif)

(v)

ISP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Dividend

Holder of each CPS shall have the same entitlement to dividend
and other income distribution as the holder of each ordinary
share of the Company and shall rank pari passu with ordinary
shares of the Company as to dividend payments.

Return on capital

On winding up of the Company, the holder of the CPSs shall be
entitled to the return of capital on the basis of the issue price of
the CPSs and in priority to ordinary shares of the Company.

Conversion rights

The CPSs is convertible at the option of the holder at any time
after the issue date. Conversion of the CPSs shall be subject to,
among others, the minimum public float requirements
stipulated under the Listing Rules or as required by the Stock
Exchange being satisfied.

Conversion price

The conversion price is HK$0.75, subject to adjustment in
accordance with the terms of the CPSs. The adjustment event
includes consolidation, sub-division, right issue, issue of the
Company’s shares for cash and grant of options or warrants to
subscribe for new shares of the Company at a discount of more
than 20% of the market price.

Redemption
The Company shall have the sole right to redeem the CPSs at

any time after the issue at the issue price of the CPSs, i.e.
HK$0.75 per share.

Bf&E : 72012 4F [ 2 17 80,000,000 % & B8 #
0.75 TRV AT AR B R MERIBE A KT
REEBOREN D - TRRELRZ
RER - FAEFIRBILAT :

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

()

&S

BRAULBREBERZFEEALER
ARBEBBRZFAEARKERE
MR AD KT EEHEREERN - B
RENTHEARREARFTERE
AL o

AMEREERZEEABENNRA
RABBREEBERARBA T BRIZ
HBEEERZETEELEEAR
RE -

AR

FE AEER T B RRAE M
R AR AR B SE A% - BB AT R AR E
ERAFER (P ) LA
PR E B R AT E R RIEARFF
&g - AT o

HERK0757T AT REA AR
BEBRZIGERTARE - ZFHARE
HREEH  FE - HREBETAR
RGO AR © - ARIR T BB
3R R A RE LA IR T (B 8 20% Z 9T a&
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28. RESERVES

Details of movement in the reserves of the Group are set out

on page 85.

The following describes the nature and purpose of each

reserve within owners’ equity

Reserve
e

Share premium

Petn i 8

Merger reserve

BptER

Exchange reserve
BEE 3 i #hm

Retained earnings/(accumulated losses)

RE &AM, (RFHER)
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28. fitif

AEBEREHENESFBEHNESSH -

TXHAHEE ABREASFERENIEE R
EN:y)

Description and purpose

Bk B &

Prior to 3 March 2018, the application of the share premium
account was governed by s.48B of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, Cap. 32. In accordance with the transitional
provisions set out in s.37 of Schedule 11 to the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, Cap. 622 (the Ordinance) any amount
standing to the credit of the share premium account at the
beginning of 3 March 2018 became part of the Company's share
capital. The use of this share premium balance is governed by
s.38 of Schedule 11 to the Ordinance. Pursuant to a special
resolution passed by the shareholders at the special general
meeting of the Company on 7 November 2022, an amount of
HK$185,420,000 standing to the credit of the share premium
account of the Company was reduced and the credit arising
therefrom be transferred to the contributed surplus account of
the Company.

R2018F3 A3HA  BINEERZEAZEA A BRD (532
B)EABBIKME - IMREEBRRRD (F622F) (FZIEH) &R
T E375E 2 BIEBR - KR2018F 3 A3HMBERND AE
R EMERBEENRARBRAR -0 - BRLFRDEE
B ZIEOIM R ZE3BIERE - REARFRER 20224
MA7EHNBRFSHAE EBBN —BEIDRER  A2FK
7 )% B BR B HE BR 288 6 185,420,000 TT#E ARG » B UL 2 AR B HEBR
BBEARRBNERBSBRIER

Amount of proceeds on merger accounting relating to the
difference between the cost of investment and the nominal
value of the share capital acquired.
HEEREERAREKBRANTFEZHEZERABNSHSARE
EEZFERESR -

Gains/losses arising on retranslating the net assets of foreign
operations into presentation currency.
ENMEBINEEEEFEREREKELENNRE BE -

Cumulative net gains and losses recognised in profit or loss.
Rt a BB FERER
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29. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 29. inEHERES LM

CASH FLOWS

(@) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to cash (a)
generated from operations:

RS REAEERKBEEZ
HEHRE:

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ok e
Loss before taxation bR AT E 18 (15,447) (1,536)
Depreciation e 2,661 3,015
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment FEUYERZ 2 CRIERE ),
of account and other receivables AE (755) 264
Impairment of retention receivables JEUW/RE € 2 BE 269 24
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) & #& & 2B fE,~
of contract assets CR{E#[E) 144 (324)
Interest income F 2 HA (3,516) (3,374)
Interest expenses MEREZ 68 87
Fair value change on financial assets & AT EF ABZEZ
at FVTPL PREEZANEH 4,156 1,018
Dividend income derived from EAFEFABR SR
financial assets at FVTPL BEMEZREWA (1,511) (1,335)
Gain on disposal of property, HEME  HERZE
plant and equipment Z Was - (10)
Operating loss before working LEEBCEPRI K EEE
capital changes (13,931) 2,171
Decrease in contract assets BREERD 30,183 24,053
Decrease/(increase) in account and & U BR 7% Kz £ 4th JiE I Zk 18
other receivables B (38 00) 6,843 (10,260)
Decrease in retention receivables JE U AR [E] & 5k 9,177 11,786
(Increase)/decrease in deposits and &% K& J8 14 308
prepayments (g, md (108) 1,110
Decrease in payables and accruals ~ FEfSERFX - ERTEA K
and long service payment liabilities  RHIRH ¢ & &R (60,164) (43,841)
Cash used in operations KEEBHEACRS
(28,000) (19,323)
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(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (b) MEEXBEEBFEHIRE
activities

Lease

liabilities

HESE

(Note 24)

(B £ 24)

HK$'000

BT

At 1 January 2022 M2022%F1H1H 2,755
Lease payments HER = (2,443)
Total changes from financing cash flow MERGREZ FHRT (2,443)
New lease entered during the year FRHFEIZHEE 1,614
Foreign exchange adjustments HINEE 8 B (141)
Lease termination RIEHE (760)
Interest expenses FEMX 87
Total other changes Hh B B4 800

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 MR2022F12A31B R

2023%F 1 H1H 1,112

Lease payments HE R (2,158)
Total changes from financing cash flow MERSRE 2 EEARE (2,158)
New leases entered during the year FRHFMEIZHEE 2,496
Foreign exchange adjustments HINE T B (4)
Lease termination WIFHSE (13)
Interest expenses MEFRZ 68
Total other changes Hip 2 ohiazE 2,547

At 31 December 2023 M2023F12H31H 1,501
HERERA A —T-_=FF K
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30. LITIGATION 30. akah

P’S BRIEICIAD THREISERIST Vi R

Below are the litigations which have been reviewed and
formed opinion by the Directors of the Company.

Reference was made to the interim report of the Company
for the six months ended 30 June 2023 (the “2023 Interim
Report”) and the announcement of the Company dated 18
January 2021. Falcon Insurance Company (Hong Kong)
Limited (“Falcon”) (as the 1st defendant) and ISP Construction
(Engineering) Limited (“ISPCE"), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company (as the 2nd defendant)
(collectively, the “Defendants”) received a writ of summons
under act